

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2023

Influence of Behavioral Leadership Strategies on Employee **Engagement in Hospital Departments**

Callie Selner Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Health and Medical Administration Commons

Walden University

College of Management and Human Potential

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Callie Selner

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee
Dr. Levita Bassett, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Deborah Nattress, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2023

Abstract

Influence of Behavioral Leadership Strategies on Employee Engagement in Hospital

Departments

by

Callie Selner

MS, Indiana Wesleyan University, 2018

BS, Saint Mary's College, 2014

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

August 2023

Abstract

Lack of employee engagement as a result of deficient behavioral leadership strategies has the potential for adverse business outcomes on productivity, business mission, and strategy. As a result of this qualitative single case study, hospital department managers who apply behavioral leadership strategies are more likely to promote an environment conducive to employee engagement. Grounded in the employee engagement theory, the purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore behavioral leadership strategies hospital department managers use to promote an environment conducive to employee engagement. The participants were five hospital department managers who had been successful with employee engagement. Data were collected using semistructured interviews, a review of organization employee handbooks, and employee meeting notes. Through thematic analysis, three themes were identified: (a) increased employee engagement with open communication, (b) empowering employee decision making, and (c) relationship development. A key recommendation is for business leaders to acknowledge the needs of their employees and continue to improve their behavioral leadership strategies. The implications for positive social change include the potential to retain valued employees and support the local community workforce through workers giving back their time.

Influence of Behavioral Leadership Strategies on Employee Engagement in Hospital Departments

by

Callie Selner

MS, Indiana Wesleyan University, 2018

BS, Saint Mary's College, 2014

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

August 2023

Table of Contents

Li	st of Tables	iv
Se	ction 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem	1
	Problem and Purpose	2
	Population and Sampling	2
	Nature of the Study	3
	Research Question	4
	Interview Questions	4
	Conceptual Framework	5
	Operational Definitions	5
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	6
	Assumptions	6
	Limitations	6
	Delimitations	7
	Significance of the Study	7
	Contribution to Business Practice	7
	Implications for Social Change	8
	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	8
	Search Strategy	9
	Background of Employee Engagement Theory	10
	Psychological Meaningfulness	11

Psychological Safety	
Psychological Availability	14
Characteristics Involved in Employee Engagement	15
Supporting Theories to Employee Engagement	32
Transition	40
Section 2: The Project	42
Purpose Statement	42
Role of the Researcher	42
Participants	43
Research Method and Design	44
Research Method	44
Research Design	45
Population and Sampling	46
Ethical Research	47
Data Collection Instruments	48
Data Collection Technique	49
Data Organization Technique	51
Data Analysis	52
Reliability and Validity	53
Reliability	54
Validity	55
Transition and Summary	56

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	57
Presentation of Findings	58
Theme 1: Employee Engagement Increased With Open Communication	58
Theme 2: Empowering Employee Decision Making	61
Theme 3: Relationship Development	64
Applications to Professional Practice	66
Implications for Social Change	68
Recommendations for Action	69
Recommendations for Further Research	70
Reflections	71
Conclusion	72
References	73
Appendix : Interview Protocol	101

List of Tables

Table 1. Literature Review Source Content	Table 1. Literature Review Source Content	. 10
---	---	------

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

In the health care industry, leaders are faced with employees who are dealing with turmoil and unhappiness throughout their everyday duties. Whether that be from on the job or at home, leaders must be able to learn and understand how to manage their engagement. No matter the industry, employee engagement is impacted by a leader's engagement strategies (Engelbrecht et al., 2017). These strategies should focus on what characteristics employees need to have an engaged relationship with their leader. However, hospital department managers are faced with many issues with their employee engagement. To assist in employee engagement issues, further research surrounding leadership strategies and employee engagement should be explored (Anitha & Gayatri, 2014). In the current study, I explored successful behavioral leadership strategies that hospital department managers use to promote employee engagement. This research may provide an improved understanding of how leaders should implement and adjust their behavioral leadership strategies to promote an environment that is conducive to employee engagement.

Background of the Problem

The employee engagement concept evolved in the 1990s from Kahn who was able to uncover that an employee uses different parts of themselves within their work roles to determine their level of engagement in two different types of industries (Kahn, 1990). An engaged employee self-identifies to their work role by becoming engrossed in their daily tasks. Conversely, a disengaged employee removes themselves from their work role to where their daily tasks become robotic. However, employees can switch back and forth

from being engaged and disengaged based on psychological experiences, meaningfulness, and availability (Kahn, 1990). These traits can be attributed to the behavioral leadership strategies that leaders use to promote an employee engagement environment. Over time, this problem has become more of a challenge for leaders in all types of industries. In the health care industry, leaders are faced with some employees being more disengaged. Through a process of understanding the employee's reasons for disengagement, leaders can implement strategies that offer different approaches to ensure employees' needs are being met. When employees' needs are met, communities can benefit from happier people bringing forth energy to solve societal issues (Boyd & Newell, 2020). Therefore, employee engagement has implications for positive social change.

Problem and Purpose

The specific business problem was that some hospital department managers lack behavioral leadership strategies to promote an environment conducive to employee engagement. The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore the successful behavioral leadership strategies that hospital department managers use to promote an environment conducive to employee engagement.

Population and Sampling

An email exchange was conducted with the vice president of patient care services at a hospital in Michigan to gain access to five purposely sampled hospital department managers. To align with the research question, I interviewed hospital department managers who had been successful at promoting employee engagement. The

five participants had a combination of different experiences and successes at promoting employee engagement as hospital department managers within the patient care service line. They were interviewed using a semistructured interview process designed to elicit their successful behavioral leadership strategies that promoted an employee engagement environment. I also reviewed organizational policies regarding employee engagement and conducted discussions with department directors to see if there were specific department policies regarding employee engagement.

Nature of the Study

To answer the research question, I used a qualitative approach. This approach was appropriate for this study because in qualitative studies, researchers study human social behavior and cultures (Bleiker et al., 2019). By developing a case study design, researchers use multiple types and sources of evidence to triangulate information to answer the qualitative research question. Researchers who use quantitative methodology investigate the relationship between independent and dependent variables (Zyphur & Pierides, 2020). Researchers who use the mixed-methods approach combine methodologies by exploring phenomena and analyzing the relationship between variables (Stadnick et al., 2021). The current study addressed human behaviors and their meanings. Therefore, a qualitative approach was appropriate to explore the different behavioral leadership strategies hospital department managers use to promote employee engagement.

Qualitative research designs include narrative, phenomenology, ethnography, and case study. Narrative designs deal with one person's experiences (Stake, 2010). The

narrative approach involves learning about an individual and becoming an interpreter for the person's stories; therefore, this design would have been less appropriate than a single case study. Phenomenology involves exploring participants' lived experiences of a phenomenon (Gill, 2014). The current study did not address lived experiences related to a phenomenon; therefore, phenomenology was not appropriate. Ethnography involves exploring a culture, which was not the purpose of the current study (see Rapp, 2021). The case study was the best design for the current study because I could use multiple types and sources of data to triangulate information to address the purpose of the study (see Yin, 2014).

Research Question

What behavioral leadership strategies do hospital department managers use to promote an employee engagement environment?

Interview Questions

- 1. What behavioral leadership strategies do you use to promote an environment conducive to employee engagement?
- 2. How do you know that your employees are engaged from those behavioral leadership strategies?
- 3. What tools have you utilized to understand what type of behavioral leadership strategies fit your style?
- 4. What have you done that has been the most effective in addressing challenges in promoting an environment conducive to employee engagement?

5. What else would you like to share about establishing an environment conducive to employee engagement?

Conceptual Framework

The theory that grounded this study was the employee engagement theory. The employee engagement theory was created in 1990 by Kahn to understand how employees use parts of themselves physically, cognitively, and emotionally during their work performance. The key components of the employee engagement theory are (a) psychological meaningfulness, (b) psychological safety, and (c) psychological availability (Kahn, 1990). The employee engagement theory was used to identify how hospital department managers engage employees to use different parts of themselves to perform at a certain level at work. As applied in the current study, a connection between an employee's psychological meaningfulness, psychological safety, and psychological availability may inform how hospital department managers take action on employee engagement.

Operational Definitions

BPhubbing: A phenomenon in which a supervisor is distracted by their phone while their subordinates are in their presence (Roberts & David, 2017).

Distributive justice: Employees' perception that there is an appropriate amount of fairness between rewards, outcomes, and resources (Y. Liang et al., 2022).

Employee engagement: Activities in which individuals willingly go above and beyond their work responsibilities to lead initiatives to benefit the team and organization (Bergstedt & Wei, 2020).

Flow experiences: Events that result in the psychological state of happiness, optimism, and joy from being immersed in an activity (Kucuk, 2020).

Red tape: A large number of procedural limitations that increase an employee's workload (Mussagulova, 2020).

Successful behavioral leadership strategies: Personal development, coaching, effective communication, collaboration, framework for decision making, mutually valued relationship, and accountability (Saxena, 2020).

Transformational leadership: Methods such as charisma, motivational tactics, inspiration, and intellectual encouragement that enable quality work performance (Muddle, 2020).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Assumptions are the assertions that allow researchers to conduct a study (Wolgemuth et al., 2017). For the current study, I assumed that the hospital department managers used behavioral leadership strategies that promoted an environment conducive to employee engagement. Second, I assumed that all participants would be unbiased and willing to participate in the study. Third, I assumed that the participants would respond truthfully to the best of their knowledge to the interview questions.

Limitations

Limitations are weaknesses that may impact outcomes and conclusions within research (Ross & Bibler Zaidi, 2019). For the current study, the hours and availability of hospital department managers may have impacted my ability to recruit participants.

Additionally, participants may have suppressed information due to potential repercussions.

Delimitations

Delimitations are the boundaries that the researcher chooses to limit their research so the goal of the research is not unreasonable (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). The first delimitation was pursuing hospital department managers who had been successful at using behavioral leadership strategies to promote an environment conducive to employee engagement. The second delimitation was the location of hospital department managers in southwestern Michigan. The last delimitation was the health care industry because I would not have had a way to interview every type of manager.

Significance of the Study

Contribution to Business Practice

Hospital department managers must explore how to maximize organizational performance. Lavigna and Basso (2020) found higher performance of key financial metrics for companies with superior employee engagement compared to companies with lower employee engagement. The current study was significant to business practice because it could provide a practical model for understanding behavioral leadership strategies of hospital department managers to promote an environment conducive to employee engagement. These strategies may improve employee engagement levels (Muddle, 2020). The current study may offer hospital department managers opportunities to promote an environment conducive to employee engagement.

Implications for Social Change

Findings from the current study may improve the community's welfare by integrating employee engagement into society. Organizations that encourage family gatherings, bring employees together for nonwork functions, and have more personal conversations are more apt to have employees campaign to solve community issues (A. Kumar & Kapoor, 2019). When resources exist in fulfilling an employee's needs within the job role, a psychological sense of community can begin to develop (Boyd & Nowell, 2020). Social entrepreneurship encourages positive social change by promoting personal reward and growth (Lumpkin et al., 2018). Hospital department managers could use the current study findings to promote an environment conducive to employee engagement by understanding the behavioral leadership strategies needed to do so.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

Researchers conduct a literature review to better understand a phenomenon by gathering information from previous studies (Paul & Criado, 2020). Stam (2020) explained that by selecting a theory to be the foundation of the study, researchers can explore the best methodology and strategy to answer the research question. The current literature review covers employee engagement as the central conceptual framework that includes conflicting and supporting views. The employee engagement theory has changed from a human resource and consulting viewpoint to a current conceptualization in which engagement interventions include employees' attitudes and behaviors (Wollard & Schuck, 2011). Qualitative and quantitative studies have revealed an apparent business problem for some behavioral leadership strategies. The current literature review provides

context and validation for addressing the research question regarding behavioral leadership strategies used by hospital department managers.

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore the successful behavioral leadership strategies that hospital department managers use to promote an environment conducive to employee engagement. At the beginning of this literature review, I provide background to the employee engagement theory. This literature review includes how psychological meaningfulness, psychological safety, and psychological availability contribute to employee engagement. Additionally, the literature review addresses the connection to communication, trust, stress, burnout, training, financial performance, well-being, and value within employee engagement through other supporting theories. Throughout the review of literature, there are diverse perspectives on how leaders should behave and how to account for the different ways people work.

Section 1 concludes with a summary and transition to Section 2.

Search Strategy

The literature review included data from scholarly sources such as peer-review journal articles and non-peer-reviewed articles. I accessed websites from Google Scholar. Walden University Library databases used included ABI/INFORM Complete, Academic Search Complete/Premier, Business Source Complete, EBSCOhost Emerald Management Journals, ERIC, MEDLINE, ProQuest, SAGE Premier, and ScienceDirect. I used the following keywords in the study of existing literature: broaden-and-build theory, burnout, communication, employee engagement, financial performance, job-demands resource theory, leader-member exchange theory, leader inclusive theory, psychological

availability, psychological meaningfulness, psychological safety, stress, training, trust, value, and well-being.

The literature review included 118 references from journals (see Table 1). Of the total references, 86% of the articles were published within the last 5 years. Table 1 shows the summary of reference type, publication year range, and total percentage of sources published within the past 5 years.

Table 1

Literature Review Source Content

Reference type	Total	< 5 years	> 5 years	% total < 5
				years
Peer-reviewed journals	113	97	16	86
Non-peer- reviewed journals	5	5	0	100
Total	118	102	16	86

Background of Employee Engagement Theory

Numerous leadership strategies take into account how to handle employee engagement. Since Kahn presented the employee engagement theory in 1990, this work has motivated leaders to understand how to predict employee behavior (Huang & Yu-Ming, 2020). Kahn (1990) used the employee engagement theory to understand how people use their psychological experiences to determine how much a person will be involved in their work performance. The key components of the employee engagement theory are (a) psychological meaningfulness, (b) psychological safety, and (c) psychological availability (Kahn, 1990). Leaders have used the employee engagement

theory to increase work performance (Bergstedt & Wei, 2020). Leaders in the health care industry can use behavioral leadership strategies to promote employee engagement.

Psychological Meaningfulness

The actions of a leader related to employee engagement can be challenging to balance the key construct of psychological meaningfulness. Research has shown that leaders have dealt with certain types of employee perceptions that affect psychological meaningfulness in their job roles (Roberts & David, 2017; Stander & Rorthmann, 2010). Roberts and David (2017) uncovered a negative relationship to employee engagement around this idea of BPhubbing, in which a supervisor is distracted by their phone when their subordinates are in their presence. This type of behavior can be challenging for employees to feel psychological meaningfulness. Stander and Rorthmann (2010) discovered that the perception of job insecurity based on the actions of a leader could lead to feelings of unpredictability due to emotional exhaustion. James (2021) explained that when employees have a high level of fit perception based on feedback from their leader, they are more willing to put an investment into their work. Negative and positive relationships between employee perceptions of their leader's actions and engagement can impact employees' ability to provide meaningful work toward organizational goals.

Job fit can assist in psychological meaningfulness for employee engagement.

Research has shown that employees were engaged when they felt their roles made a psychologically meaningful impact on them at a personal and organizational level (Kwon & Park, 2019; May et al., 2004). May et al. (2004) discovered that job enrichment and work role fit is positively linked to psychological meaningfulness. Additionally, when

leaders strengthened employee engagement over time, employees felt appreciative (Kwon & Park, 2019). Kanungo (1982) identified that job involvement depended on a cognitive judgment about the need satisfying abilities of the job. Aktouf (1992) emphasized the significance of managers understanding that disengagement derived from a lack of commitment and motivation to ensuring job fit for their employees. The impact of employee psychological meaningfulness is derived from job fit and the way leaders create a motivating work atmosphere in which people enjoy coming to work every day.

In any business organization, the human resource (HR) and marketing departments can influence cross-functional employee engagement for employees to feel psychological meaningfulness. Jose and Mampilly (2021) found that HR management practices enabled higher employee engagement. Additionally, marketing practices had a positive relationship with job engagement when empowerment, motivation, information sharing, and work environment were provided (Al-Weshah, 2019). Furthermore, Rothmann and Baunmann (2014) identified how valuable psychological meaningfulness positively related to employee engagement when HR recognized employees were being overworked. Chaudhary (2019) uncovered that organizations that use their corporate responsibility predicted how well leaders engaged with employees in their organization. Internal marketing strategies and HR management practices can create value for employees to have a more positive psychological meaningful experiences in the workplace.

Psychological Safety

The behavior of a leader can assist in promoting psychological safety for their employees. Jose and Mampilly (2021) found that employee psychological safety resulted from the counter-relationship between HR management practices that embraced ethical leadership and employee engagement to balance employee emotions and perceptions. Employees who felt psychologically safe generated creative ideas without fear of rejection or penalty by colleagues, felt supported, and embraced organizational culture that diminished untrustworthy perceptions (J. Kim et al., 2020). When leaders portrayed selfless behaviors, employees were more open to working collaboratively toward goals and contributing to a more trusting work environment that promoted engagement (X. Liang & Fan, 2020). Leaders' actions impact the ability of an employee to feel psychologically safe and engaged in their role.

Positive social exchanges between leaders and employees can promote psychological safety within the work environment. Creative work performance was a direct response to the transparent relationship between psychological safety and leader-member exchange theory (LMX; Maus, 2020). Through the use of the LMX theory, leaders influence their employees' job performance by providing compassionate feedback to create high-quality exchanges between leaders and employees (Li et al., 2022; Maus, 2020). When leaders express gratitude, this can influence the ability of an employee to feel safe within their work environment. Positive social interactions between leaders and employees can promote employee engagement through psychological safety.

Through servant leadership, employees can feel psychologically safe within their work environment. When servant leaders provide empathy, healing, support, appreciation, and awareness to their employees, employees feel psychologically safe within their work environment (May et al., 2004). Employees who feel psychologically safe will more often express their feelings about opportunities and potential challenges within the organization. Leaders who possessed servant leadership increased employee engagement due to the emotional connection that they built with their employees (Li et al., 2022). Psychological safety can be maintained by leaders when they are able to implement behavioral strategies that recognize employee perceptions and interactions and use leadership styles that promote employee engagement.

Psychological Availability

Psychological availability involves the way an employee makes themselves available for their job needs. When an employee feels psychologically available, they feel they can physically and emotionally engage in specific work situations even if personal factors are on their minds (Gode et al., 2020). Distractions, such as emotional energy, contribute to challenging experiences for an employee to manage their psychological availability in their personal and work lives (Van der Ross et al., 2022). Leaders must be aware that employees often have roles other than their job title. Employees can be parents, daughters, sons, volunteers, and so on. This can impact their psychological availability and engagement. Furthermore, culture and experiences can impact how an employee deals with job demands based on psychological and resource availability (Laba & Gelenhuys, 2016). Leaders should understand behavioral strategies that cope with the

barriers to psychological availability, which include job demands, transparency, lack of time, capabilities, and burnout.

Job demands can impact an employee's ability to be psychologically available in the workplace. Rozman and Milfelner (2022) discovered that when leaders were transparent and reliable in providing resourceful information to employees to meet their job demands, employees felt able to complete their duties more efficiently. Efficiency provides opportunities for employees to express their concerns during the decision-making process. However, when employees continue to get drawn into situations that take them away from their normal job demands, employees are faced with having to work overtime because they feel like they did not have time to complete their normal job demands (Van der Ross et al., 2022). As a result, employees can become burned out and their job performance and well-being can decrease (World Health Organization, 2019). Leader strategies must be evaluated and adjusted to understand how people handle psychological availability to promote an environment conducive to employee engagement.

Characteristics Involved in Employee Engagement

To collaborate toward organizational goals, leaders should understand how to balance psychological needs within the workplace to promote employee engagement. The responsibility of a leader is to recognize lower employee engagement so they can adjust their behavioral leadership strategies so that organizational goals can be met. Leaders must build relationships with their employees so they can understand their needs. To obtain higher employee engagement, leaders have developed a wide range of strategies:

communicate effectively, gain trust, lessen stress, decrease burnout, provide training, improve financial performance, contribute to a person's well-being, and increase value when employees are engaged within their job responsibilities.

Communication

Mentorship involves interactions between employees and leaders so they can understand each other's needs and practice front-facing empathetic communication for optimum employee engagement. Hameduddin (2021) found that employee engagement involved an energetic mindset that allowed employees to be involved with leading flow and absorption. When employees believe they can communicate openly and effectively, they will be more apt to take the initiative to collaborate on organizational goals (Cunningham, 2019). Through two-way communication, leaders can better understand the needs of an employee and put strategies in place for improved employee engagement.

Manager and employee communication can be critical for employee engagement. Rohatinsky et al. (2020) discovered that communication was one factor that was crucial to implementing a mentorship program because employees felt enabled to voice their opinions on organizational opportunities. When employees voice their opinions and gain receptive feedback, employees can feel more confident in the future to voice their opinions again (Cunningham, 2019). This type of feedback can influence one of the key constructs of employee engagement: psychological meaningfulness. When a leader can communicate with their employee, the employee begins to engage and trust that their leader will support them throughout their journey within that organization.

Employees and leaders must effectively communicate their needs so there can be a balance between work and life. Blok et al. (2020) determined that when nurse leaders talked openly with their employees to promote emotional support and work—life balance, they were more engaged with the job duties. Znidarsic and Bernik (2021) found that leaders who supported work—life balance were able to show an increase in work engagement through the individual perception of organizational support. Work—life balance is an integral part of people's emotional states. When this is interrupted, leaders must recognize that communication and transparency can help get employees back on track. Leaders who had supportive communication with active empathetic listening had a mutual understanding that helped employees feel like they can be engaged in their work (Jonsdottit & Kristinsson, 2020). This support allows leaders to use strategies to promote an environment conducive to employee engagement.

Leadership styles can impact the way information gets communicated to employees. Saxena (2020) discovered how understanding the leadership model between clinician and non-clinical leaders could differ based on communication. Clinicians and non-clinicians leaders understand behavioral strategies differently. Clinicians often times do not think about the business implications of decisions the same way as non-clinician leaders. For example, clinicians act before they think about the repercussions of their actions and non-clinicians would think about the repercussions before taking an action (Saxena, 2020). Therefore, leadership styles and effective communication can impact how information is perceived by an employee.

Communication tools can allow leaders to effectively interact with their employees to get tasks done. Cunningham (2019) introduced evidence-based tools that assisted leaders in communicating better within their organization included establishing expectations, holding leaders accountable for results, engaging employees through rounding and recognition, and cascading information strategically. Rounding allows leaders to create a personal connection to guide conversation towards positive aspects of the job, recognize employees, and discuss process improvement questions (Cunningham, 2019). Through this process, Schroeder and Modaff (2018) found that employees communicated their engagement between external expressions and role-defined displays. Additionally, forming task forces allowed employees to be engaged in providing feedback on issues so changes can take place (Matthews, 2018). Ultimately, keeping the employee informed and involved allows leaders to keep track of recurring themes that need attention to enhance employee engagement.

Employees should be able to voice their opinions within their work environment to remain engaged. Romney (2021) explored how the threat of misinterpreted information can be improved by the way managers use constructive voice delivery when new ideas are introduced. Rutishauser and Sender (2019) discovered that the social interaction of team members (TMX) levels is related to Kahn's three factors of psychological safety, meaningfulness, and availability. When employees can communicate topics they feel strongly about, their productivity can be enhanced (Romney, 2021). Therefore, when an employee communicates their opinions, leaders can better understand the level of engagement during social interactions.

By understanding the level of engagement of an employee, leaders can utilize tools to help identify the drivers of employee engagement. For several decades communication has been researched to develop and enhance tools for leaders to utilize with their employees to learn how to communicate better within the workplace (De-la-Calle-Duran & Rodriguez-Sanchez, 2021; Panteli et al., 2019). Communication can assist leaders in driving employee engagement as employees become more comfortable with their leader's style of managing. Homann et al. (2021) explored factors that drive employee engagement through a quality communication approach concerning quality, consistency, direction, and environment encompassing the relationship between workers, supervisors, and the psychological climate. By communicating, employee's felt that when they were included in safety discussions and decision-making processes, their engagement improved to feel appreciated (Homann et al., 2021). When employees feel appreciated through active communication about being included in decision-making, their potential can be manifested and embraced to reach organizational goals. Therefore, leaders can improve employee engagement by applying strategic models for understanding the tools and drivers of effective communication.

Trust

Trust can be defined as the willingness of people to be susceptible to believing the expectations of one person based on positive intentions that they have expressed (Jiang & Luo, 2018). During the leader and employee relationship building process, psychological relationship building becomes a huge part of creating a robust and trusting connection between the two people from the leader's leadership style. Decuypere and Schufeli

(2021) found that certain leadership styles provided more value in creating a trusting relationship through understanding the employee's psychological needs, trust, and resources. Building a trusting relationship between employee and leader can be difficult due to perceptions and psychological interferences. Jiang and Luo (2018) identified that a proper mechanism should be implemented to create relationship capital through psychological capital. As a result, leaders may benefit from strategic models within their leadership styles to enforce collaboration and inclusiveness between their employees.

Trusting relationships can be built by the way leaders communicate and understand the needs of their employees within their leadership style. Saxena (2020) found that leaders can develop themselves and others to create a dyad leadership model among clinician and non-clinical leaders to have successful leadership strategies. Busse and Regenberg (2019) discussed how transformational leadership naturally shapes a trusting relationship between leaders and employees because of how leaders vocalize appreciation and inclusiveness. The dyad and transformational leadership models can assist leaders in developing trusting relationships based on psychological needs.

Another theory that can contribute to trust building between leader and employee is the inclusive leadership theory. Fu et al. (2022) vocalized how the inclusive leadership theory fosters creativity from a leader that promotes openness, trust, respect, and collaboration. When employees receive this type of encouragement, they will be more apt to provide extra support to their leader. When employees can be creative, their true potential can be optimized to generate a positive work environment for their leaders and other employees. Zhang et al. (2022) recognized how the inclusive leadership theory

enabled nurses to innovate through empowering and developing psychological intervention strategies. This level of trust allows leaders to promote an environment conducive to employee engagement.

The research around trust contributes to the foundation of leaders building relationships with their employees to create a positive work environment that fosters employee engagement. As trusting relationships are built, leaders can begin to understand what causes stress for their employees.

Stress

For several decades, employees and leaders have had difficulties expressing and coping with employee engagement strategies. Researchers across all industries have completed quantitative and qualitative studies on the relationship between stress and employee engagement (Dinh, 2020; Steinheider et al., 2019). As society continues to grasp the "new normal" post-pandemic of COVID-19, leaders have been faced with managing stress levels differently. Health care leaders have implemented strategies that promote employee engagement through understanding stressful factors that could be mitigated to enhance employee engagement. When there is perceived stress, there is a negative impact on employee engagement, and a proper organizational structure should be evaluated to promote engagement factors (Allan et al., 2021). Kumar and Kapoor (2019) determined that employees campaign for better solutions when they feel less stressed and overwhelmed with their work. Leaders must be able to recognize these stress levels to adapt to their employee's needs and continue to assist in organizational goals.

Employees can verbalize or non-verbalize their needs when they are dealing with

stressful situations. Every individual should be treated differently because not all coping strategies help the same way. As a leader, there must be strategies in place to be able to mitigate the stress even if the employee does not express their concerns (Kumar & Kapoor, 2019). For example, when people are a part of a team or embarked on higher education, they learn how to manage their time during stressful situations (Breaugh, 2021). This experience prepares individuals to deal with stress in different parts of their lives. Eldor (2018) learned one way that stress could be managed was by providing compassion during stressful conditions so employees could better handle work demands. These coping mechanisms allow leaders to implement strategies that can be valued by employees.

Employee stress levels can be contributed to work-life balance. When employees feel as if their personal lives are being affected by their daily work tasks, they become stressed about how to deal with excelling at work but also in different avenues of their life. Dich et al. (2019) identified that women had more trade-offs, role conflict, and perceived stress when combining work and family duties. Eldor et al. (2020) found that for students who had a positive work-life balance, their stress levels decreased. People respond to stress differently based on whether they have a family to take care of at a home or another job requiring their attention. Stress contributes to the psychological impacts on leaders and employees.

The ability to not be overworked is critical to employees' stress levels and their ability to remain engaged at work. Rollins et al. (2021) indicated that when employees are overworked and utilize time off, they feel re-energized and focused at work.

Breevaart and Bakker (2018) found that workload and cognitive demands positively correlated with work engagement when transformational leadership was present. Weigelt et al. (2019) discovered the themes of psychological detachment, affective rumination, problem-solving pondering, positive work reflection, and hostile work reflection when employees face emotional irritation. Therefore, leaders could benefit from managing overworked stress so employees remain engaged in their work environment.

Overall, the research that has been conducted around stress suggests that when employees feel less stressed in the workplace, they are more apt to make an effort to be engaged (Eldor, 2018). Engaged employees are less likely to feel burnout. Therefore, leaders could benefit from implementing behavioral leadership strategies around mitigating stress to promote employee engagement.

Burnout

Employees can face burnout at different points in their careers. In order to control burnout, leaders must be able to recognize internal and external factors that contribute to an employee's engagement. Burnout characteristics include feeling drained and lessened effectiveness and motivation, interpersonal behavior that exhibits detached responses, reduced sense of one's achievement, and depersonalization (Mitonga-Monga & Mayer, 2020; Sun et al., 2022). Conversely, energized engagement can be seen through intention, preparation, dedication, focus and action with clarity and performance (Samnani et al., 2014; Sun et al., 2022). These two sides of the spectrum offer various indicators to leaders on what behavioral strategies might need to be adjusted to avoid or reduce employee burnout.

Leaders can implement strategies that assist in the prevention of employee burnout. One study suggested three ways leaders can prevent burnout: a work culture centered around employee needs over productivity, management skills that contain authoritarian leadership styles, and development (Rollins et al., 2021). Another way to measure and prevent burnout is through frequency-based response scales, which illustrate how often burnout behaviors occur to avoid burnout in the future (Tong et al., 2020). However, based on individual factors, people can feel mental overload at different times based on psychological factors (Pace & Sciotto, 2020). For leaders, personal and work mental overload can be hard to identify without being actively engaged in the life of the employee. Therefore, no matter the industry, leaders can benefit from understanding if their employees are facing burn out so their performance and engagement can recover.

In healthcare, patient safety indicates how well their employees treat and provide quality care for their patients. Burnout is a high risk to patient safety, and leaders should be aware if their employees are showing decreased energy levels (Calvo et al., 2021). Emotional responses from the amount of work pressure can be caused from perception of expectations, portrayed work-life balance, and depersonalization (Sun et al., 2022). Through consistent communication, leaders can recognize these emotional responses to provide clarity and reduce negative perceptions of expectations. Otherwise, employees will feel as if they do not have an environment that promotes work-life balance and lessen their performance and engagement. Thus, health care leaders can benefit from understanding how much workload pressure employees are facing so they can understand and adjust behavioral leadership strategies.

Collectively, these studies bring a perspective on the relationship between burnout and employee engagement. Energy, culture, dedication, and perceptions provide indicators to engagement levels (Singh, 2021). Through motivation and balance of physical and mental workloads, employees can be more willing to communicate their concerns and opportunities. Therefore, knowing this information allows leaders to implement strategies that target burnout characteristics and create an environment around employees' personal needs to remain engaged in their work.

Training

Training and growth opportunities can take part in employee decision making when looking for a new job. Research has determined that successful management of employees requires adequate training and development for employees to remain engaged (Lavigna & Basso, 2020; Mohanty, 2018). The psychological impact behind an opportunity to grow with an organization enables employees to have a desire to impress and capitalize on their creative thinking skills (McInerney & Niewiarowski, 2022). Gordon et al. (2018) uncovered that when employees were provided training and goals to establish job crafting, there was an increase in well-being and job performance. Therefore, with an increase in well-being and job performance, employees can be more engaged within the organization.

Within the healthcare environment, everyone should have the opportunity to progress and learn to advance their skills for better patient outcomes. Bergstedt and Wei (2020) discovered that nurse leaders should have an environment centered around training opportunities so employees can be empowered to improve the quality of care.

Suomi et al. (2021) recognized that training and how it relates to internal branding is crucial to health care professional employee engagement. Internal branding allows organizations to continue to build on their focus of understanding that employees are customers and their needs are pivotal to the organization's success. Therefore, training and career development opportunities can enable employee engagement.

The job-demands resource theory can be correlated to the training factor that impacts employee engagement. Bakker and van Wingerden (2021) conducted a study that follows the job-demands resource theory to uncover that when employees believe they have the resources they need to execute their job through available resources such as training, they are more engaged within their work. Additionally, understanding the psychological impact of having interventions for employees to utilize their resources to get their job done can affect employee engagement. To optimize resources, employees actualize and reflect on their needs and demands to be involved more within their organization (Gordon et al., 2018). These studies revealed that employees were engaged when they could be trained and developed within the organization. Thus, leaders can benefit by discussing career development with their employees so they can build training programs that will meet the personal needs of employees.

Financial Performance

Organizational goals consistently revolve around increasing financial performance. Akinwale and Ogunyomi (2021) discovered when employees are engaged in their work responsibilities, key financial performance metrics such as profitability, operating efficiency, performance stability, and the ability to raise capital can be achieved

in organizations. Furthermore, employees will likely be more engaged in daily tasks when the organization provides monetary incentives toward achieving optimum financial performance. To make this happen, leaders must implement strategies that create an ethical culture for employees to be engaged (Sarwar et al., 2020). When organizations developed and achieved a strategic competitive advantage around employee engagement, they out performed other organizations that did not take this strategy into consideration (Saks, 2017). Therefore, employee engagement is crucial for organizations to meet their financial goals.

There are other ways for organizations to build on their financial performance other than your typical business metrics. When organizations focus on non-monetary factors such as employee motivation, refinement of tasks, and inspiration to obtain organizational goals, they more often reach their financial goals (Ahmed et al., 2020; Bakker & Demerouti, 2017; Mani & Mishra, 2020). Cattermole (2018) revealed that there is a higher performance for organizations when there is a focus on the employee experience. A positive employee experience allows relationships to be built between leaders and this foundation creates trust for employees to perform so the organization can achieve its financial goals. However, when unethical behaviors such as blaming, individualism, and favoritism are a part of the organizational culture, employees are less engaged in their work and underperform (Sawar et al., 2020). Therefore, leaders could benefit by considering the non-monetary values contributing to the overall financial performance to encourage employee engagement.

In the business industry, every single employee is important to the success of any

organization. Minh et al. (2022) uncovered that stakeholder management should be concerned with everyone's apprehensions and not just the firm's owners due to the relationship of management and financial performance. When employees are able to voice their concerns, they can make a valuable impact towards bringing excitement towards organizational financial goals. Through the use of the broaden-and-build theory, leaders can capitalize on when employees are happy to perform their best for their organization (Shuck et al., 2017). Employee engagement and financial performance can be instrumental in retaining employees who feel satisfied with their well-being.

Well-Being

People have at least two different types of social environments where their attention is needed, work and home. To contribute to an employee's well-being, employees want to be able to go into work and leave happy so they can continue to be the best version of themselves outside of work. Piszczek and Pimputkar (2021) found when employees can utilize flexible work schedules, they can be more involved with responsibilities outside of work that make them happy. As a result, when leadership made an effort to understand the relationship between happiness and well-being, employees were more engaged in their job duties (Boyd & Nowell, 2020; Obuobisa-Darko & Domfeh, 2018). Well-being involves six different characteristics: positive emotions, engagements, relationships, meanings, accomplishments, and achievements (Singh, 2021). Therefore, leaders must consider the benefit of incorporating an employee's well-being into their behavioral leadership strategies.

The leader-inclusive theory goes hand and hand with well-being and employee

engagement. The leader-inclusive theory allows leaders and employees to create an atmosphere where employees feel comfortable expressing their concerns during the decision-making process (Busse & Regenberg, 2019; De-la-Calle-Duran & Rodriguez-Sanchez, 2021). When employees feel they are a part of the team making decisions, their overall well-being is positively impacted (Busse & Regenberg, 2019). Xu et al. (2019) found that well-being was a positive predictor of organizational citizenship behavior, and work engagement mediated the relationship between employee well-being and organizational citizenship behavior. Through the creation of this environment, leaders can understand and make adjustments to benefit their behavioral leadership strategies that will better impact employee engagement.

Leaders can develop ways to design leadership strategies to optimize a person's well-being. By understanding psychological characteristics of employees, leaders can identify areas of most need. Shuck et al. (2017) found that there are three different conditions of employee engagement that include cognitive, emotional, and behavioral, that affect an individual's health. Chan et al. (2020) found that age, marital status, education, job type, job retention, sleep, distress, and no history of workplace bullying led to higher work engagement due to employees' psychological characteristics of their well-being. No matter the background of any employee, leaders should recognize their leadership strategies because everyone's needs are different, and all employee's opinions should be valued.

Employees who feel valued can contribute to emotional and behavioral wellbeing. Kim et al. (2020) found that by utilizing Kahn's employee engagement theory, employees have a positive relationship in voicing behaviors. Voicing behaviors is considered a characteristic of employees willing to go against the expected behavior and challenge potential adjustments to current strategies (Kim et al., 2020). However, it is difficult to understand when employees feel that they have greater well-being from their experiences at work. Through psychological phases, employees' internal and external well-being factors can relate to their ability to be engaged during their work role.

These studies offer variables that can assist leaders in recognizing if their employees are engaged. As a result, leaders must implement strategies that allow them to consider behavioral changes that help an employee's well-being.

Value

In relationship building, people often navigate towards people who value the same type of morals and ethics as one another even in the workplace. Employees want to know that their viewpoints will be considered with their leader when opportunities arise. Prottas and Nummelin (2018) identified that perceptions determine employees' attitudes because employees could have a viewpoint that does not align with the manager's words and actions. When feedback occurs, employees can become optimistic and interact more toward succeeding in their personal and organizational goals (Kumar, 2021). Yang et al. (2019) determined that when actions are put into place from feedback, employees feel more valued and engaged in workflow changes. This type of value allows employees to continue to build their relationships with leadership and collaborate on job tasks which promote employee engagement.

In the healthcare industry, employees' psychological health and values can impact

the quality of care they provide to patients. Bergstedt and Wei (2020) identified an increase in quality of care when nurses are more engaged when their values are supported within their work environments. Furthermore, as nurses are supported within their role, career values can be discussed as opportunities for development. Eldor et al. (2020) identified career values as the outcomes individuals desire and feel they should achieve and sustain throughout their careers. When health care employees feel valued, their patient care and motivation to achieve higher career goals become clear though leaders understanding their psychological health.

On the contrary, there are other types of employees that can be less engaged due to not feeling their value from the work that they are doing on a daily basis. Akingbola and Van Den Berg (2019) found that non-profit employees are more likely to experience the effects of the lack of behavioral outcomes when job characteristics and values are unavailable. During these circumstances, vigor, dedication, and absorption can be lacking (Jia et al., 2019). Due to this, employees will find themselves in a mental state where they cannot provide an impact to organizational goals. Therefore, leaders can benefit from collaborating with their employees to achieve a positive work-related to mental state.

Employees can feel valued in their work roles through different leadership styles and models. Leaders can influence work engagement through perceived organizational support (Jia et al., 2019). Gadolin and Andersson (2017) and Oh, et al. (2018) found a relationship between authentic leadership's significant influence on core values and work engagement when employees are voicing their concerns. Mohammed Ali Ababneh (2020) discovered that organizational culture archetypes models considerably impacted

how employees felt valued. As leaders learn their strengths and weaknesses within their leadership style, certain values can become particularly important to employees.

In the process of adjusting strategies, leaders can learn what values contribute to the prevention of negative employee engagement. Saito et al. (2018) found that higher individual intrinsic and altruistic work values were associated with improvements in burnout and work engagement. As leaders focused on positive work environment that fosters a culture that values employees, employees were more engaged in their job duties (Boakye et al., 2021; Nekula & Koob, 2021). Their engagement can contribute to the overall goals of the organization by adjusting strategies.

The research in this section identifies how leaders are faced with having to create and implement behavioral leadership strategies that embrace characteristics involved in employee engagement. When leaders are able to effectively communicate, trust, lessen stress, decrease burnout, provide training, improve financial performance, contribute to a person's well-being, and increase value then employees are engaged within their job responsibilities and the organization can achieve their goals. By adjusting and learning from employee needs, increased employee engagement can be achieved. However, leaders must consider other supporting theories to employee engagement to shape their leadership style.

Supporting Theories to Employee Engagement

Organizations and individuals can achieve their goals through collaboration, manifestation, resources, and social exchanges between employees and leaders. Through social exchanges, employees determine their eagerness to be engaged in work

responsibilities through the ability to build relationships. Employee engagement involves the willingness to which employees feel motivated to do their job to the best of their ability (Kahn, 1990). Therefore, employee engagement can be supported by several theories such as the leader inclusive theory, broaden-and-build theory, job-demands resource theory, and leader-member exchange theory.

Leader Inclusive Theory

One theory that can contribute to employee engagement is the leader inclusive theory. This theory can be defined as the way leaders are able to recognize and value employee view points during the collaboration process of working together to make decisions (Busse & Regenberg, 2019; Choi et al., 2016). Korkmaz et al. (2022) found that positive impacts of inclusive leader theory include psychological safety, adjusting strategy, participation in innovation, and employee engagement. Jolly and Lee (2020) utilized the leader inclusive theory to identify how communicative behaviors of leaders impacted employees' voices and psychological factors on engagement. Psychological safety is a crucial attribute to the foundation of employee engagement (Kahn, 1990). Increased employee engagement can be seen through recognizing employees needs through relationship building that encompasses trust and safety (Choi et al., 2016). When leaders can effectively bridge this characteristic, employees can feel safe within their work environment. Leaders who incorporate the leader inclusive theory to their leadership style could lead to work environments where employees are more engaged in their work.

Within the leader inclusive theory, employee engagement can be a result of job fit. Katsaros (2022) discovered that the feeling of belonging and safety in the workplace directly correlates to inclusive leadership and employee engagement. Bao et al. (2021) found that inclusive leadership has a positive relationship with employee engagement through a person's ability to feel that they are the right fit for their job. Job fit is crucial for employees to trust their leader to provide feedback so they can work together to adjust strategies (Choi et al., 2016). Consistent communication becomes a crucial behavioral leadership strategy that can promote an environment conducive to employee engagement. Job fit within leader inclusive theory can benefit employee engagement.

The leader inclusive theory can recognize two different types of leadership styles, authoritarian and transformational. When there is a low level of inclusiveness and lack of two way communication coming from a leader, they possess similar characteristics to an authoritarian leader; however, transformational leaders remain open to communication to build that relationship of feeling appreciated and inclusiveness in the workplace (Busse & Regenberg, 2019). Employees who report to authoritarian leaders can witness the lack of collaboration due to leaders wanting tasks done their way with no employee perspective on the task. When leaders can effectively communicate employees' responsibilities, employees will understand the expectations and be more willing to collaborate toward meaningful organizational goals. As a result, leaders can either promote or disengage in employees based off of their leadership style.

The leader-inclusive theory recognizes that different leadership styles can impact the collaboration among leaders and employees. Additionally, the correlation to psychological safety enables the ability of employees to trust their leader to communicate on job responsibilities. When leaders are able to recognize characteristics of inclusiveness within their teams, better decision making can occur to meet organizational goals.

Broaden-and-Build Theory

Another theory that can contribute to the employee engagement theory is broaden-and-build theory. This theory can be described as the positive psychological emotion that enhances awareness to higher yields of manifestation to their work (Shuck et al., 2017). When people are happy while doing their job, they will execute higher work performance with less stress, and mindsets will increase personal resources and communication. Personal resources include psychological capital, incorporating efficacy, optimism, hope, resilience, commitment, and grit (Porter & Wang, 2022). Therefore, when leaders enable employees to have positive emotions throughout their job daily, they can have a positive outlook on striving towards goals and have better well-being (Garland et al., 2010). As a result, organizations will be able to meet goals and create better opportunities for their employees by using the broaden-and-build theory.

By developing an organizational culture that strives to achieve higher levels of engagement, leaders will be able to have healthier employees under their guidance. Employees will be more open to engaging with their leader when verbal appraisals are a part of the culture (Kaltiainen et al., 2020). Fredrickson (2001) found that when employees balance their positive and negative emotions, they will have better well-being due to an increase in joy, pride, interest, contentment, and psychological resiliency.

Through the development of creating a culture where leaders understand the state of their employee's engagement, behavioral strategies can be implemented and adjusted.

Leaders can facilitate positively reframing different perspectives on a situation to help make the situation more positive (Samios et al., 2013). The broaden-and-build theory relates to people's ability to manage difficult situations by enabling broader patterns of thinking that will allow the construction of personal resources such as physical, intellectual, psychological, and social that will assist in dealing with situations that might come up in the workplace (Garland et al., 2010; Taubman et al., 2011). By allowing employees to freely think, people become aware of other people's needs and by default improve interactions among others (Taubman et al., 2011). Therefore, the broaden-and-build theory contributes to employee engagement theory by leaders understanding the balance between positive and negative emotions through non-monetary appraisals to increase personal resources to decrease stress through communication and psychological meaningfulness.

Job-Demands Resource Theory

Another theory that can contribute to employee engagement is job-demands resource theory. The job demand resource theory (JD-R) assumes that every job has specific job demands, including emotional and quantitative and specific job resources such as opportunities for growth (Druge et al., 2021). Job demands come from the physical, social, psychological, and organizational demands that employees must meet, and job resources are needed for employees to meet goals even when the job demands increase (Kowalewski & Ruschoff, 2019). More specifically, independence, career

growth, and work-life balance are considered resources that can be utilized to predict work engagement (Pace and Sciotto, 2020). By identifying the relationship between demands, burnout, and health status to resources, leaders can predict strain on employee motivation and engagement (Druge et al., 2021). This theory capitalizes on the way employees deal with stressful factors that impact their job responsibilities.

As leaders understand the way employees deal with job demand stress, they can create strategies that are task-oriented and procedural constraints. Tummers and Bakker (2021) discovered leaders who implemented two influential leadership behavior strategies, consideration and initiating structure, understood when the demands and resources of the employee were impacting their ability to complete their job responsibilities. Mussagulova (2020) found that when employees utilized the job resource of autonomy, they were able to deal with their work demands better; however, employees who had numerous types of "red tape" in their way, were not able to concentrate on their main job demands. Bakker and de Vries (2021) found that when employees face stress within their job, they are more likely to use internal strategies, such as self-undermining, instead of trying to recover from the stressful situation. Therefore, the behavioral strategies of a leader could be formulated in a way that considers how employees are feeling as well as what they need to do their job well.

Leaders must consider the resources that have always remained stable to intervene with stressed employees. The stable resources of collaboration and relationship building between employees and leaders were crucial for employees to remain engaged in their work. For example, stress was decreased when human resources and leadership

determined how to relieve job responsibilities to become more sustainable (Bakker & de Vries, 2021). Additionally, relationship building can allow leaders to understand what the goals of the employee are so they can focus on gaining experience through their job demands and resources. Lei et al. (2021) identified how career success can be linked to JD-R due to the higher psychological flexibility when employees have a better relationship with their leaders. Therefore, effective behavioral strategies can assist leaders in helping employees relieve stress as well as having a successful career.

The JD-R begins a motivational and health impairment process. The health impairment process includes identifying exhaustion and overloaded at work, and the motivational process predicts work engagement based on job resources and the emotions such as dedication and absorption (Kulikowski & Orzechowski, 2018). Employees can proactively change their responsibilities by job crafting, task crafting, relationship crafting, and cognitive crafting to make their work more meaningful (Bakker & Demerouti, 2017). Therefore, employees feel empowered to be involved in work decisions to stay motivated in a bottom-up approach. Leaders must be able to implement strategies that cope with these feelings as employees do not feel as if their demands are not being met. Through understanding psychological processes, leaders can create an environment conducive to employee engagement.

Leader-Member Exchange Theory

The exchanges between employees and leaders become crucial for employee engagement and how much they are willing to give back to the organization in terms of performance. The leader-member exchange theory (LMX) can be described as the

development of relationships based on social exchanges (Maus, 2020). Through LMX theory, leaders influence their employees by building trusting relationships and continually providing feedback to create a high-quality exchange between leaders and employees for increased engagement (Maus, 2020; Vidyarthi et al., 2014). Interactions between leaders and members create a positive work environment that naturally opens up conversation to continuously build trust and improve verbal and non-verbal communication. Hence, leaders can benefit by creating and implementing behavioral strategies that revolve around promoting employee engagement.

Through building trust, leaders can learn what is important to some employees and not so important to others. One primary focus of LMX is to develop employees' careers and participative management (Pellegrini et al., 2010). Organizations can use different structures to align leaders and employees to optimize the strengths of each member (Vidyarthi et al., 2014). In high-level LMX relationships, employees can have a range of responsibilities and leaders show support and impact beyond the job description; however, in a low-level LMX relationship, the exchanges between leaders and employees are based on contracts (Epitropaki & Martin, 2005). The utilization of LMX can be impactful for leaders because they will be able to use part of the information from relationship building to determine what they need to do help motivate or align their employees. Therefore, by building relationships, employees can effortlessly enjoy their time working with their leaders.

Employees who enjoy their time at work can be more engaged with collaboration and relationship building than those who do not. Kucuk (2020) found that flow

experiences contributed to positive attitudes and behaviors of the employee because of the way they were fully immersed in a task or project that joyfully motivated them regardless of how small of a job. However, people can go in and out of engagement from those flow experiences. Wilson and Cunliffe (2022) found that LMX did not just involve the relationships that employees and leaders built, but also the relationship of their lived experiences. This can be correlated to Kahn's (1990) psychological characteristics because people can go through different cycles of engagement based on current and past experiences within the workplace and at home. Therefore, work enjoyment can come and go and it is the responsibility of the leaders to learn about their employees so their perceptions remain positive.

Positive interactions between leaders and employees can develop from employee perceptions of their leaders. Desrumaux et al. (2022) found that perception of workload and resources, support from hierarchy, and empowerment contributed to the link to innovative work behaviors and leader-member exchange theory. However, distributive justice must be met through the proper allocation of rewards, outcomes, and resources from employee perspectives (Liang et al., 2022). Innovative work allows organizations to continue to prioritize and provide valuable impact to their goals. As a result, behavioral leadership strategies can be implemented to promote an environment conducive to employee engagement.

Transition

In Section 1, I presented the characteristics and supporting theories that embody employee engagement and how it relates to psychological meaningfulness, psychological

safety, and psychological availability. In Section 2, the discussion will include the Role of the Researcher, Participants, Research Method and Design, Population and Sampling, Ethical Research, Data Collection Instruments and Technique, Data Organization Technique, Data Analysis, and Reliability and Validity, In Section 3, I will present an analysis of a case study that will be performed to identify the behavioral leadership strategies that hospital department managers use to promote an environment conducive to employee engagement.

Section 2: The Project

In Section 2, I discuss the methods for conducting this qualitative single case study. The elements of this section include the purpose statement, role of the researcher, participants, research method and design, population and sampling, ethical research, data collection, data organization, data analysis, and procedures for ensuring reliability and validity of the study.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore the successful behavioral leadership strategies that hospital department managers used to promote an environment conducive to employee engagement.

Role of the Researcher

In qualitative research, the role of the researcher is to be a data collection instrument (Wa-Mbaleka, 2020). I chose this research topic because of my career goals to be in hospital department leadership as well as working with health care analytics. By understanding what employees need to feel psychologically available, meaningful, and safe, I could develop behavioral leadership strategies that promote employee engagement. Additionally, I wanted to effect change within a health care organization by understanding employee engagement analytics.

The researcher must follow the ethical guidelines of respecting the participants within the study with beneficence and justice (The Belmont Report, 1979). There was fair treatment and protection of the participants' identity throughout the entire study process.

I identified the participants as Participant 1–5 and did not use their real names in the case

study. Furthermore, I handled participant information safely so there was no physical or emotional harm. To mitigate bias and personal perspective, Chenail (2011) suggested performing the process of interviewing the investigator as a technique to create interview protocols so they can remain consistent and avoid personal perspective. To ensure that there was no bias in the current study, I selected a facility where I did not have a working relationship with the hospital department leaders, and I followed my interview protocol. Through this strategy, I generated interview questions that allowed me to obtain participants' insights to answer the research question.

Participants

The eligibility criteria of the participants included being a hospital department manager within the patient care service line who had been successful at promoting employee engagement at the health care organization. An email exchange was conducted with the vice president of patient care services at a hospital to gain access to five purposely sampled hospital department managers. I emailed five hospital department managers to ask if they would be willing to participate in the study. I provided them with information about the study and the consent form so they could make an informed decision about participating in the study. I provided as much information as possible in the email so they knew what to expect moving forward. The five hospital department managers agreed to participate in the study.

To establish a working relationship with the participants, I discussed availability strategies over the phone so I could build our relationship. Canevello and Crocker (2010) explained that when researchers email as much information as possible and follow up

with a phone call, this responsiveness promotes reciprocation from the interviewee. Throughout the entire interview process, I remained trustworthy and accountable regarding participants' responses. To ensure that I and the participants were being held accountable, I conducted participant validation and naturalistic inquiry. Lincoln and Guba (1985) described naturalistic inquiry as a way in which the researcher can hold themselves accountable throughout different parts of the interview process. Participant validation allowed for transparency in ethical concerns during the interview process because I did not want to assume that output was what was intended by the participant.

Research Method and Design

By using a qualitative single case study, I analyzed participants' experiences to answer the research question. The research method and design included triangulating data to ensure credibility.

Research Method

The selection of the qualitative method resulted from the need to understand how behavioral leadership strategies promote an environment conducive to employee engagement. In qualitative studies, researchers study human social behavior and cultures (Agius, 2013). Qualitative methodology is used to explore how people contribute to a social or human problem by investigating and understanding a phenomenon (Stake, 2010). C. Marshall and Rossman (2011) explained that to complete qualitative research, researchers should choose a framework for connecting issues through discussion that contributes to developing solutions to the research problem. Researchers who use quantitative methodology investigate the relationship between independent and

dependent variables (Salvador, 2016). The scientific approach is used to test hypotheses with numerical data (Wang et al., 2014). Researchers who use the mixed-methods approach combine methods by exploring a phenomenon and analyzing the relationship between variables (Schoonenboom & Johnson, 2017). In the current study, I sought to understand of human behaviors. Neither quantitative nor mixed methods were appropriate to satisfy the purpose of the current study (see Glesne, 2011).

Research Design

Qualitative designs include narrative, phenomenology, ethnography, and case study. The narrative approach involves learning about an individual and becoming an interpreter for the person's stories (Stake, 2010). This design was less appropriate than a single case study. The phenomenological design involves understanding participants' lived experiences of a phenomenon (Gill, 2014). I did not seek to understand participants' lived experiences related to a phenomenon; therefore, the phenomenological design was not chosen. Ethnographic researchers interpret shared and learned behaviors from a particular culture over a long period of time (Stake, 2010). Due to the amount of time to review observations and interviews, the ethnographic design was not appropriate for the current study.

By conducting a single case study, researchers use multiple sources of evidence to triangulate data to better understand the social problem. A major advantage of a case study is that there are multiples sources of data related to a certain phenomenon (Hutchison et al., 2012). The case study design can be deemed as more accurate and insightful when using several resources for data collection (Hicks et al., 2014). Yin

(2014) recommended a thematic approach to generate themes when analyzing data in a qualitative study. To achieve data saturation, researchers collect data until there is no more new information appearing (Fusch & Ness, 2015). By conducting interviews and reviewing organizational policies on employee engagement, I achieved data saturation in this single case study.

Population and Sampling

I recruited participants using a purposeful sampling method to conduct this single case study. By using purposeful sampling, I ensured that the objectives of this study were met with the participants chosen (see McCabe et al., 2013). To have rich data in this case study, I used purposeful sampling (see Stake, 2010). By having a mixture of people within the population, I ensured participants would have different experiences and knowledge of their role (see Olubunmi, 2014). To answer the research question, I interviewed hospital department managers who had been successful at promoting employee engagement. The five participants provided different experiences and successes at promoting employee engagement as hospital department managers within the patient care service line.

In any case study, data saturation must be met to ensure reliable findings. Data saturation is met when there is no more information or themes presented in data collection (Walker, 2012). When participants' responses are repeated over and over, data saturation has been achieved (B. Marshall et al., 2013). Additionally, by reviewing multiple sources of data, researchers are able to achieve data saturation (Harvey, 2015). In the current study, data saturation was achieved when there were no new themes after

conducting interviews and a review of organizational policies. However, if the responses and the review of documents had not begun to repeat themselves, I would have continued to interview participants and review documents until data saturation was achieved.

Ethical Research

Data collection began after I received institutional review board approval (01-19-23-1061619) and completed a site agreement. Participants received a consent form and had sufficient time to make an informed decision to be a part of the study. The participants were informed of their rights and the ability to withdraw from the study at any time (see U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, 2014). If a participant chose to withdraw from the study, all communications and data would have been destroyed (see U.S Department of Health & Human Services, 2014). If a participant had wanted to be removed from the study, they could have contacted me by email or phone. There were no participants who did not want to be a part of the study.

Researchers can provide incentives for participants to participate in their study. However, they must be certain that those incentives do not impact the reliability of the study (Bouter, 2015). There was no incentives for participating in the current study. To ensure the ethical protection of the participants, I maintained ethical standards by bringing awareness to how participants' information was protected and how privacy was preserved throughout the study. I used coding to deidentify participants and the organization in this study (see Mitchell & Wellings, 2013). I will protect the data collected for 5 years after the completion of this study for the privacy of the participants.

Data Collection Instruments

I was the primary data collection instrument in this qualitative case study. The researcher becomes knowledgeable and insightful of the study topic (Rowley, 2012). However, the researcher must remain unbiased and not bring their personal experiences and feelings into the interview process (Porter, 2015). To assist in making sure that bias did not appear in the data collection and interpretation, I used an interview protocol (see Appendix). I read directly from my interview protocol throughout the interview for each participant.

In this qualitative case study, I conducted semistructured interviews and reviewed policies related to employee engagement. Face-to-face interviews are one of the most popular data collection instruments in qualitative studies (Leedy & Ormrod, 2013). After institutional review board approval, I started data collection. First, I emailed the vice president of patient care services to gain access to hospital department managers. After I received access to participants, I reached out to the participants by emailing them to request their participation in the study. Emailing participants allows researchers to have proof of responses and is less time-consuming to receive a reply (Ziebland & Hunt, 2014). All participants responded within the same day of the initial email. If there was a participant who did not reply within a week, I would have sent a follow-up email with the vice president copied on the email. After the participants consented to be a part of the research, I scheduled the face-to-face semistructured interviews. During the interview process, I followed the interview protocol to prevent my bias from entering the study. Following the interviews, I asked to be able to review organizational policies on

employee engagement. Organizational employee engagement policies were a reliable and credible source of triangulating data (see Koelsch, 2013). By conducting face-to-face interviews and reviewing policies, I collected credible and reliable data to answer the research question.

The open-ended interview questions were prepared before the interview to guide the participants' responses as part of the interview protocol (see Fusch & Ness, 2015). Yin (2014) explained that case study protocols guide the researcher to focus on the research question and not to drift off into other areas not pertaining to the study. By answering open-ended questions, the participants were able to elaborate on their responses and go into as much detail as they liked. To ensure reliability and transferability, I used an interview protocol to stay aligned with the research question (see Jacob & Fergerson, 2015). After interviews, researchers should allow participants to check their responses so researchers can prevent misinterpretation of the data (Ketefian, 2015). Member checking will assist researchers in establishing reliability and credibility through their summaries (Weiss, 2016). When conducting member checking, I provided a summary of the key points from the interview for the participant to review and verify.

Data Collection Technique

By conducting semistructured face-to-face interviews with open-ended questions and reviewing employee engagement policies within the partner organization, I obtained adequate data to answer the research question. By following an interview protocol, I was able to stick to the script to ensure all of the questions were consistent (see Appendix). Yin (2014) noted that face-to-face interviewing provides an effective data collection

technique for case studies. I asked each participant what was one of their favorite places to eat so they would feel comfortable during the interview. During qualitative data collection, researchers can observe how the participant responds verbally and nonverbally as part of data collection (Ziebland & Hunt, 2014). I began the interview by thanking the participant for meeting with me and then began asking the five interview questions. I looked for nonverbal cues and asked follow-up questions as needed. Researchers can have control over the information the participant provides (Ziebland & Hunt, 2014). At the end of the interview, I thanked the participant again for participating in the interview and scheduled a follow-up meeting for member checking. Additionally, I conducted policy reviews to assist in validating the interview data as part of the two sources needed for data collection (see Yin, 2014). These two collection techniques allowed me to reach data saturation.

The advantages of face-to-face interviews are (a) synchronized in time and space, (b) body language and facial expressions are visible, and (c) physical meetings can create a safe and comfortable environment (Saarijarvi & Lena Bratt, 2021). Disadvantages to face-to-face interviews are (a) time consuming, (b) require some extent of travel, and (c) safety risks (Saarijarvi & Lena Bratt, 2021). Some advantages to reviewing organizational policies are (a) inexpensive collection of information, (b) reliable official information from the organization, and (c) human willingness to provide policy information (Yin, 2014). Disadvantages include (a) subjective, (b) time consuming, (c) willingness to provide corporate policy information (Zhang et al., 2014).

Member checking in qualitative studies establishes integrity by having participants review summaries from the researcher (Thomas, 2012). After data was collected and analyzed, I utilized member checking to ensure that the findings were what the participant intended to say from the interviews. Trustworthiness can be achieved through member checking because of the checking of patterns and consistency (White et al., 2012). As a result, the findings were considered reliable, credible and valid.

Data Organization Technique

Data collection was organized throughout the entire life of the study. For a quick data retrieval process, Koelsch (2013) recommends that there should be an organizational process in place while doing the interpretation. To stay organized before the interviews start, I used Microsoft Outlook calendar when I scheduled interviews for each of the participants. For managing the data collected, a matrix in Excel was created to include categories that assisted in identifying patterns and themes from the semistructured interviews for management of the data (Hicks et al., 2014). From there, creating a coding process to rank and group themes together will assist in uncovering insights in the information that is being collected (See Zamawe, 2015). In addition to manual organization, I utilized NVivo to assist in managing and organizing the data from the case study.

There was a plethora of data that was collected throughout this case study so I ensured a data storage strategy was in place so information did not get lost. By using an external hard drive and online versions with password protection, this would have assisted in retrieval of information if a scenario risen where there the backup information

needed to be used. The raw data collection has retention of 5 years after the study. After 5 years, I will delete and shred all information in my possession relating to this case study.

Data Analysis

I used methodological triangulation for my case study research. I gathered data from organizational policies regarding employee engagement and semistructured interviews. Yin (2014) stated that by using a variety of sources for data collection, the quality and complexity of the study would be enhanced. The data analysis assisted in developing themes that emphasized behavioral leadership strategies that managers used to promote employee engagement. Yin's 5 step approach to data analysis process includes: (a) compiling the data, (b) disassembling the data, (c) reassembling the data, (d) interpreting the meaning of the data, and (e) concluding the data (Yin, 2014). In step one, I compiled the data to develop categories. In step two, I disassembled the data to eliminate themes that are changing. In step three, I reassembled the data into core themes. In step four, I checked for patterns against interview transcripts and the review of internal documents to interpret the meaning of the data. In step five, I concluded by summarizing the data into individual descriptions of the experiences. These steps helped with reaching data saturation.

In this study, I utilized open-ended interview questions to continue to build off of one another to understand how hospital department managers dealt with employee engagement. This helped influence the analysis of the data to better understand how employee engagement is handled at this particular organization (See Rubin & Rubin,

2012). By using semistructured interviews and organizational policies, they can contribute to triangulation to support validity and credibility (Wahyuni, 2013).

To protect the participants' identities, I created a labeling system when I transcribed the participant interviews, where P1 meant Participant 1. After completing transcriptions of participant interviews, the interviewees confirmed my interpretation by participating in member checking. Once the participant validated my interview interpretation, I then processed the data using NVivo. I created a coding matrix to assist in uncovering themes throughout the analyzation process. Chang and Graham (2013) stated that by using software to develop themes assists in reducing human error to maintain reliability and validity.

The theme development was crucial to the triangulation process. Themes can be generated through commonly used words by the participants and linking them to the conceptual framework (Emmel, 2015). By comparing previous research in the literature to this case study, it will assist in identifying gaps in data (Salijeghe et al., 2014). The conceptual framework of employee engagement and themes generated from this study allowed for hospital department managers to have the opportunity to make adjustments to their behavioral leadership strategies in the future.

Reliability and Validity

While doing any research study, researchers must be open to critique and evaluation (Long & Johnson, 2000). During this process, reliability and validity must be established in order to achieve quality research (Yin, 2014). Long and Johnson (2000) indicated that reliability can be achieved by decision making trails and triangulation,

whereas validity can be achieved by peer debriefing, respondent validation, and triangulation. In order to do so, protocols were in place to ensure that validity guaranteed reliability. These protocols should be established throughout data collection and not at the end of the study due to the risks and threats to reliability and validity (Cypress, 2017).

Reliability

During data interpretation, member checking was used to be considered dependable. Vicencio-Ortiz & Kolarik (2012) recommends to researchers to be clear on coding methods and data instruments such as member checking to achieve dependability. Member checking is one data instrument that confirms reliability (Cook, 2013). Yin (2014) proclaimed by documenting the steps taken in a case study provides reliability and dependability by having a reduction in thematic and transcript errors. Ali and Yusof (2011) determined that reliability in qualitative research can be attained through the stages of documenting data interpretation.

Reliability can be accomplished when there were repeated measures in a study that had the same results to uncover truth to findings (Cypress, 2017). Once the researcher analyzed the data, they should return the analyzed data to the participant to assess the trustworthiness of the qualitative results (Birt et al., 2016). In doing so, this ensured that the results were being perceived how the participant intended and were considered reliable. By creating a process with non-bias data interpretation and research integrity, reliability and dependability can be achieved (Shaw & Satalkar, 2018).

Validity

In order to improve the quality of the research in the study, the researcher must gain credibility through validation by creating reliable study findings (Marshall & Rossman, 2011). Stake (2010) proclaimed that the researcher must justify their sample by articulating the potential variability in the population to support credibility, transferability, and confirmability. To support in the credibility of this case study, participants were leaders who were considered successful in promoting employee engagement (See Glaser & Laudel, 2013). In addition, acquiring organizational policies that support this case study gained credibility and trustworthiness of the qualitative results (See Gibbert & Ruigrok, 2013). Therefore, the quality of this case study was validated through credibility.

Data collection from participants that impact the demographics of the study could promote transferability (Marshall & Rossman, 2011). The findings were clear so the information could be transferred to other managers within other industries who are challenged with the employee engagement business problem. By having the information transferable, knowledge and insights can continue to influence future research (O'Reilly & Parker, 2013). The documentation of study interview protocols and coding analysis methods allowed information to be transferred to improve strategies managers used to promote employee engagement.

To ensure validity, researchers should understand their role within in the study. By having the appropriate distance between interviewee and researcher will allow the study to gain confirmability (Houghton et al., 2013). Bringing awareness to bias will

contribute to confirmability through the process of generating interviewing protocols (Chenail, 2014). The interview protocol allowed me to stay on track and to not impose any personal bias into the responses of the interviewee. By doing so, bias was contained and limited to assist in the validation and confirmability of the results.

Data saturation and validation are positively related factors in qualitative research. Data saturation is achieved when the researcher achieves no more new information during data collection (Mwita, 2022). If data saturation was not achieved, I would have continued to interview participants until there were no repeating themes within the data. By recording and coding the responses from the participants in semistructured interviews, the researcher interpreted the data to achieve data saturation and validation (Quintao et al., 2020). When there are repeated themes throughout the data interpretation stage, the researcher met data saturation (Lakshmi & Mohidden, 2013).

Transition and Summary

In Section 2, there was an identification of the Role of the Researcher,

Participants, Research Method and Design, Population and Sampling, Ethical Research,

Data Collection Instruments and Technique, Data Organization Technique, Data

Analysis, and Reliability and Validity. In Section 3, I present findings and digest the study conclusions of the single case study that can identify the behavioral leadership strategies that hospital department managers use to promote an environment conducive to employee engagement.

Section 3 consists of an introduction, presentation of findings, application to professional practice, and implications for social change. I also discuss recommendations for further research on leadership engagement strategies and provide reflections on my

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

experience during the doctoral study journey. I conclude with an overview addressing the importance of the influence of behavioral leadership strategies that are conducive to

employee engagement.

The influence of behavioral leadership strategies on employee engagement is a complex business problem in the health care industry that requires leaders' involvement. The loss of leadership strategies that engage employees continues to have a negative effect on employee stress levels, perceived perceptions, and values (Allan et al., 2021; James, 2021; Saito et al., 2018). Blok et al. (2020), Hameduddin (2021), and Rohatinsky et al. (2020) indicated that communication is important to keeping employees engaged in the work environment. The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore the behavioral leadership strategies that hospital department managers use to promote an environment conducive to employee engagement.

I explored behavioral leadership strategies that influenced employee engagement by interviewing five hospital department managers at a hospital in Michigan. Participants had experience implementing behavioral leadership strategies that influenced an environment conducive to employee engagement; all participants (P1–P5) were hospital department managers. During data analysis, I compared transcripts, interview notes, and internal policies on employee engagement to ensure validity and reliability. The data

analysis indicated that at this organization, leaders were able to promote employee engagement by having open communication, empowering employee decision making, and developing strong relationships with their employees.

Presentation of Findings

The research question in this study was the following: What behavioral leadership strategies do hospital department managers use to promote an employee engagement environment? I used semistructured interviews with open-ended questions to enable participants to provide detailed information on what behavioral leadership strategies they used to promote an environment conducive to employee engagement. In addition, I reviewed company archival documents on employee engagement policies. Before starting the interviews, I sent all participants a copy of the consent form and an email outlining the study details. Interviews took place in a private room in the hospital and lasted 10–15 minutes.

When performing the data analysis with the NVivo tool, I focused on themes that were relevant to the research question and the conceptual framework. The data analysis revealed the following themes: (a) Employee engagement increased with open communication, (b) empowering employee decision making, and (c) relationship development.

Theme 1: Employee Engagement Increased With Open Communication

Employee engagement increased with open communication was the first theme that emerged from a thorough analysis of participants' responses and a review of the organizational employee handbook. P1, P2, P3, P4, and P5 explained that by having open

communication, the engagement of employees increased throughout every aspect of the role of the employee. Participants spoke often about having an open-door policy to make sure they are available for their team members to speak about personal and professional ideas. P3 and P4 stated that through shared governance, employees were able to speak openly about concerns and have opportunities for the organization and the department. P4 mentioned

also, sometimes when they have ideas, you're not just like, it's not going to work, but I'm honest with them, and I don't just say, no, it's this is why that's not going to work. But then I follow that up with, if you would like to come up with another solution, we can we can present it to the group and we can try it and then we can reconvene and see if that's the resolution of that solution.

P2 indicated that by creating a culture that embraces an open line of communication, employees begin to lean on one another to problem solve.

All five participants emphasized that leaders should use open communication as a behavioral leadership strategy to promote an environment conducive to employee engagement. Kalidass and Bahron's (2015) and R. Sun and Wang's (2016) findings confirmed that open communication led to more engaged employees due to providing more transparent information. For leaders who chose to be closed off with their communication, employee engagement decreased (Romney, 2021). Furthermore, Frear et al. (2017) discovered that leaders who used open communication saw an increase in commitment to the organization. In the current study, open communication between

employees and leaders was found to be crucial to employee engagement in the hospital departments.

P2, P4, and P5 said that using an open-door policy was an effective behavioral leadership strategy for employees to feel comfortable enough to discuss personal and work. P1 stated "when I have weekly individual touch bases with my employees discuss personal and career goals, employee engagement increased." P3 stated "I meet with individuals once a week to discuss any challenges that they may have encountered in the past week." Coaching-based leadership involves one-on-one conversations to enhance goals and performance (Zuberbühler et al., 2023). All current participants expressed that they spend a significant amount of time communicating with their employees every day to touch base on their needs. Additionally, P1 and P2 noted that when they were not able to touch base with their employees, their engagement decreased in the workplace. Based on my analysis of the organizational employee handbook, the findings were similar to those of Kahn (1990) that open communication increases employee engagement. The organizational employee handbook document indicated that leaders should practice open communication with their employees by having quarterly touch bases.

All participants stated that open communication was key for employees to feel as though they had purposeful meaning in the workplace. As part of the conceptual framework for the current study, one of Kahn's (1990) key constructs of employee engagement is psychological meaningfulness. P2 stated "when people come to work, they want to know that the work they are doing is meaningful." Stander and Rorthmann (2010) mentioned that open communication provides a perception that the viewpoints of

employees are meaningful to extending knowledge around open communication. When leaders are able to implement behavioral leadership strategies around open communication, employees are more engaged.

Theme 2: Empowering Employee Decision Making

Employee engagement increased when employees were empowered to be involved in decision making. This was the second theme that emerged from a thorough analysis of participants' responses and a review of the organization's internal policies. P1, P2, P3, P4, and P5 explained when employees are able to vocalize their opinions in the decision-making process, employee engagement increases throughout every aspect of the role of the employee. Participants spoke about having their employees be a part of changes within the hospital departments. P3 and P4 stated that through shared governance, employees are able to vocalize improvements that need to be changed throughout the department. P3 mentioned "it's really putting the autonomy in their hands and making them feel a part of that change. And usually when the teams were more part of the change, the change goes over better than just dictating." However, P2 stated "when leadership is dictating the decision making, employees felt that their voice did not matter and did not feel safe in the work environment." P1 said "when employees are able to be a part of the change that needs to be implemented, employees will provide more feedback to how a situation was going." Through implementation of behavioral leadership strategies that empower employees to be involved in decision making, employees were more engaged.

All five participants emphasized that leaders should empower employees to be involved in decision making as a behavioral leadership strategy to promote an environment conducive to employee engagement. These findings were similar to those of Lei et al. (2015) and Ngs (2016) who found that employees being involved in decision making led to more engaged employees. Leaders who chose not to let their employees be involved in decision making had employees who were less engaged in their job roles. Furthermore, Stanczyk et al. (2017) discovered that leaders who encouraged employees to get involved in decision making had employees who were more committed to being a part of a change to better the organization. When leaders empowered employees to be involved in decision making, employee engagement in the hospital departments was positively impacted.

P1, P2, P3 said that using trial and error from the ideas of employees was an effective behavioral leadership strategy to increase employee engagement. P1 and P3 stated that employee engagement increased when a leader tried one of the ideas of their employees. When their team needs to make a decision, P1 stated

I ask how do we want to overcome a certain issue and they come up with ideas that I would have never even dreamed of implementing. I'll say, you know, we'll try this and see how it goes. And if we don't like it, we'll change it. So nothing ever hard and fast and written in stone. It's we sift through things until we find something that works and I take their opinion into account because it matters.

P5 stated that during huddles they ask

What was good about today? What was not good about today? Well, what was the difference between today and yesterday? How can we change that? And then I'm just really one for try it since they are the ones out there doing the work. You're the ones who manage that workflow. My only suggestion is you just don't try it for two days and say it doesn't work to notice any change positive or negative. It needs to be over a course of X amount of time.

When leaders and employees work together by trying different ideas toward reaching common goals, employees can be more engaged in the workplace.

All participants expressed that the more everyone works together to make decisions, the more efficient and better quality of care the employees provide to the hospital department. Additionally, P1 and P2 noted that when employees are not involved in decision making, employee engagement suffers. P1 stated "I have recognized that when employees do not get involved with the team, their attitude is often negative." Based on internal meeting notes, the findings were similar to the conceptual framework of Kahn (1990) that empowering employee decision making assisted in employee engagement. Current participants provided me notes from team meetings after our inperson interviews. The notes displayed how over several meetings more employees were voicing their opinions during decision making.

P2 and P4 stated that allowing employees to be involved in decision making was key for employees to feel as if their job was safe within the workplace. One of Kahn's (1990) key constructs of employee engagement is psychological safety. P4 stated "when people come to work, they want to know that their job is safe, and their opinions are

valued during decision making." Employees who felt psychologically safe generated creative ideas without fear of rejection or penalty by colleagues, felt supported, and embraced organizational culture that let them be involved during the decision-making process (J. Kim et al., 2020). When leaders understand the triggers to work-related uncertainty for employees, they can manage competitive pressure that can impact engagement (Bunjak et al., 2023). When leaders implement behavioral leadership strategies to empower employee decision making, employees can be more engaged.

Theme 3: Relationship Development

Employee engagement increased with relationship development between leader and employee. This was the last theme that emerged from a thorough analysis of participants' responses and a review of the organization's internal policies. P1, P2, P3, P4, and P5 explained that by having a solid relationship with their employees, leaders increased employee engagement in every aspect of their role. Participants spoke about creating a work environment that promotes a culture of relationship building. P4 and P5 stated that through weekly meetings with their employees, they are able to develop these relationships. P4 discussed the relationship that they have with their employees:

They rely on each other a lot because of the great culture we have created. I can help them as much as I can, but our charge nurses are also very trustworthy. If they want some guidance or if they want assistance with something, they know that they can go to the charge nurse or they can come to me. So I think it's just a strong bond. And we've had everybody lean into that culture. So it's not just I hate to say it's just me, because I don't think it is.

This leadership strategy of relationship building can assist in promoting an environment conducive to employee engagement.

All five participants emphasized that leaders should use relationship building as a behavioral leadership strategy to promote an environment conducive to employee engagement. The findings that supported leaders using relationship development were similar to those from Muthusi-Nzyoka (2016) and Aziz et al. (2017) who found that relationship development led to more engaged employees. Leaders who chose to be closed off with their employees had decreased engagement. Furthermore, Saleh (2017) discovered the connection to relationship development and employee engagement was correlated to leaders being transparent with sharing information with their employees. Employee engagement levels are complex psychological processes deriving from the people within the managerial structure (Fulmore et al., 2023). In the current study, relationship development between employees and leaders was found to be crucial to employee engagement in the hospital departments.

P1, P2, and P5 said that being willing to listen and ask questions about how employees are feeling personally and about work made employees more apt to discuss ideas on a regular basis. P1 and P5 stated that employee engagement increased when a leader took the time to learn about employees' families and understand where their employees' career goals stand. All participants expressed that they know how many children employees have or whether they are married. Additionally, P2 and P5 noted that when a manager does not have a strong relationship with employees, they are not as willing to be engaged in the work environment. Based on meeting notes, the findings

were similar to the conceptual framework of Kahn (1990) that relationship development assisted in employee engagement. Based on weekly meeting notes that hospital department managers shared, there was a trend of more conversation about career goals as well as personal lives.

All participants stated that relationship development was key for employees to feel as if they had leadership availability within the workplace. As part of the conceptual framework, one of Kahn's (1990) key constructs of employee engagement is psychological availability. P3 stated

I'm really close with the people on my team and talk to them every day and talk to them about their home life or talk to them about their kids, their spouse their events in their life, or check up on them. Make sure they have my cell phone, they text me if there's a situation that I'm in or meeting or a conversation that team member needs to speak to me, I'll excuse myself and make sure that I'm available on my team.

Culture and experiences can impact how an employee deals with job demands based on psychological and resource availability (Laba & Gelenhuys, 2016). When leaders implement behavioral leadership strategies around relationship development, employees can be more engaged.

Applications to Professional Practice

Since employee engagement can impact productivity, it is essential for leaders to implement behavioral leadership strategies that keep their employees involved in the workplace (Ugoami, 2016). Lack of employee engagement can impact more than just

productivity, it can also become detrimental in the organization's overall goal of the business mission and strategy (Ahammad et al., 2016). The mission and strategy of the organization enable employees to grow as the organization grows. By implementing behavioral leadership strategies, leaders can ensure their employees are integrated and vocal about opportunities to achieve organizational goals.

Business leaders should consider the needs of their employees in professional practice. The needs include psychological meaningfulness, safety, and availability which impact employee engagement (Kahn, 1990). Most leaders are aware when their employees are disengaged and are able to bridge the gap with their behavioral leadership strategies (Maus, 2020). The strategies leaders use can impact employee engagement.

While there are numerous strategies leaders can use to increase employee engagement, participants stated that open communication, empowerment of employee decision-making and developing leader employee relationships were most effective.

Open communication improves employee engagement by bringing transparency to information that employees may need to know. Empowering employee decision making can be applied to professional business practice because employees are the ones doing the job and can provide the best insight compared to leaders who may not being doing the work every day. Developing leader employee relationships is pivotal to impacting employee engagement because employees need to know that their work is valued so they will continue to be retained within the organization. However, continuous adjustments need to be considered for hospital department managers can grow.

Additionally, leaders should understand that not all strategies are the same for all employees. The feedback gained from open communication, empowering decision making, and relationship building will allow teams to continue to prosper toward goals. Continual feedback from employees and leaders promotes an environment conducive to employee engagement (Li et al., 2022; Maus, 2020). Therefore, by implementing behavioral leadership strategies, hospital department managers may promote an environment conducive to employee engagement.

Implications for Social Change

This qualitative case study is meaningful to social change because leaders in the healthcare industry can use the findings to implement effective behavioral leadership strategies that could promote an environment conducive to employee engagement. The primary objective of this research was to explore behavioral leadership strategies that engage employees within hospital departments. In addition to understanding the significance of implementing behavioral leadership strategies, leaders must be able to identify which strategies are working for their employees and which are not (Schlechter et al., 2014). Leaders will be able to use the strategies that have appeared from the data analysis to utilize behavioral leadership strategies to engage their employees which in turn might lead to more opportunities for employment for local families and the community.

When the leaders within an organization are involved in the needs of their employees, the leaders could be more engaged with how they can get involved outside of their organization. Engaging employees support leaders in the organization to generate

opportunities to bring positive social change for the communities they serve (Steiner & Atterton, 2014). When resources exist in fulfilling an employee's needs within the job role, a psychological sense of community can begin to develop (Boyd & Nowell, 2020). Furthermore, successful organizations are a driving force of social change such as creating jobs, quality of life, and donating to programs that can benefit an entire community (Steiner & Atterton, 2014). Health care leaders can utilize this research to implicate social change by executing the right behavioral leadership strategies that promote employee engagement.

Recommendations for Action

Leaders in the health care industry can use this information in this study to implement effective behavioral leadership strategies to promote employee engagement. By adopting some of the recommended strategies that were shared by participants such as open communication, empowering employee decision making, and developing leader employee relationships, hospital department leaders have a higher chance of engaging their employees. The knowledge shared in this research may help contribute to the success of leadership in the health care industry when employees are disengaged within the work environment.

The findings from this study also provide leadership in the health care industry additional strategies to promote employee engagement such as open communication with their employees, empowering employee decision making and relationship development.

Implementing effective behavioral leadership strategies that promote employee engagement may assist leaders with tools to influence employee career growth and

opportunities within the organization. This study will be disseminated through potentially sharing opportunities with business forums, organizational trainings, and leadership conferences. Additionally, this study will be available through the ProQuest/UMI dissertation database for future scholars to utilize for research.

Recommendations for Further Research

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore the behavioral leadership strategies hospital department managers use in southwest Michigan to promote an environment conducive to employee engagement. The findings of this study are based on reasons employees are disengaged and how hospital department managers adjust their behavioral leadership strategies to meet the needs of their employees. Since employee engagement is a complex business problem, future qualitative researchers should explore behavioral leadership strategies that promote open communication, empowering employee decision-making, and relationship development.

One recommendation for further qualitative research is exploring behavioral leadership strategies that influence employee engagement in different geographical locations. Since COVID-19, employees and leaders in different locations have been emotionally impacted by the pandemic. Additional research in the areas where the pandemic hit the hardest could provide further knowledge and development surrounding employee engagement. Another recommendation for further qualitative research is comparing older and younger hospital department managers. Both age groups of hospital department managers could utilize behavioral leadership strategies differently, which could provide more constructs to consider for this business problem. Additionally,

interviewing employees who are new to the healthcare industry to explore their perceptions of the behavioral leadership strategies of leaders that might be able to provide insight into the business problem.

Future quantitative researchers should consider the correlation between employee engagement and leadership style. By researching the different leadership styles, the correlation could be found that different leadership styles promote employee engagement more or less than others. Moreover, future research surrounding behavioral leadership engagement strategies could add to the limited scholarly knowledge and understanding of behavioral leadership strategies used by leaders within the healthcare industry.

Reflections

Throughout my doctoral journey, I was able to have an opportunity to present information in several different stages including the prospectus stage, proposal stage, data collection, and analysis stage. I thought the proposal stage was the most challenging with the literature review. The analysis stage was the most interesting as all the hospital department leaders provided different and similar insights. Throughout the analysis stage, it was crucial for me to eliminate personal bias based on past experiences to increase the reliability and validity of my findings.

Since I was the data collection instrument for this study, I was faced with the challenge of not allowing my personal biases impact the results of the research. I made sure to stick to my interview protocol and not go off the script to potentially persuade the participants one way or another so that it would not impact the results of my study. I provided the same opportunity for hospital department managers to participate in the

study, asked the approved interview questions in the same order, and ensured that the findings were from the participants only.

During the data collection process, creating a healthy researcher-participant relationship was key to the participants understanding that communication was key in setting up the interview times and member checking. The participants were attentive and enthusiastic about sharing their good and bad experiences which exemplified the need to research this business problem. I uncovered that qualitative interviews allowed me to gain a deeper yet broaden understanding of the research problem. Since there are so many different variables to employee engagement, I can see why leaders must continue to learn and adapt to what their employees need to remain engaged in the work environment.

Conclusion

The findings from this case study uncovered that leaders in the healthcare industry could influence employee engagement by using open communication, empowering employee decision making, and relationship development. Based on the participants' experiences, hospital department leaders should implement these strategies into their leadership style. When organizations have employees that are disengaged within their work role, they must adjust their behavioral leadership strategies to promote an environment conducive to employee engagement. I recommend that hospital department managers and scholars use these findings and recommendations of this study to gain insights on new behavioral leadership strategies.

References

- Agius, S. (2013). Qualitative research: Its value and applicability. *The Psychiatrist*, *37*(6), 204–206. https://doi.org/10.1192/pb.bp.113.042770
- Ahammad, M. F., Tarba, S. Y., Liu, Y., & Glaister, K. W. (2016). Knowledge transfer and cross-border acquisition performance: The impact of cultural distance and employee retention. *International Business Review*, 25(1), 66–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibusrev.2014.06.015
- Ahmed, U., Umrani, W., Aziz, T., Zaman, U., & Rajput, S. (2020). Corporate entrepreneurship and business performance: The mediating role of employee engagement. *Sage Open*, 10(4), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244020962779
- Akingbola, K., & Van Den Berg, H. (2019). Antecedents, consequences, and context of employee engagement in nonprofit organizations. *Review of Public Personnel Administration*, 39(1), 46–74. https://doi.org/10.1177/0734371X16684910
- Akinwale, A., & Ogunyomi, P. (2021). Employee engagement & financial performance of SMEs in Lagos State, Nigeria. *Indian Journal of Industrial Relations*, 56(3), 465–479.
- Aktouf, O. (1992). Management and theories of organizations in the 1990s: Toward a critical radical humanism. *Academy of Management Review*, *17*(3), 407–431. https://doi.org/10.2307/258717
- Ali, A., & Yusof, H. (2011). Quality in qualitative studies: The case of validity, reliability, and generalizability. *Issues in Social and Environmental Accounting*, 5(1), 25–64. https://doi.org/10.22164/isea.v5i1.59

- Allan, B. A., Kim, T., Liu, T. Y., & Owens, R. L. (2021). Are work well-being variables distinct? A bifactor model of fulfilling work. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 68(4), 425–434. https://doi.org/10.1037/cou0000559
- Al-Weshah, G. (2019). Towards internal marketing practices in enhancing job engagement. *International Journal of Pharmaceutical and Healthcare Marketing*, 13(1), 40–56. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPHM-11-2017-0063
- Anitha, A., & Gayatri, R. (2014). Leadership not a title nor a position. *International Journal of Current Research and Academic Review*, 2(8), 356–366. https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051818810136
- Aziz, N. A. B. A., Hasbollah, H. R. B., Yaziz, N. A. M. B. M., & Ibrahim, M. A. H. B. (2017). Factors influence the level of staff turnover rate: A study among private nursing homes in Malaysia. *International Business Management*, 100(1), 148–155. https://doi.org/10.3923/ibm.2017.148.155
- Bakker, A., & Demerouti, E. (2017). Job demands resource theory: Taking stock and looking forward. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 22(3), 273–285. https://doi.org/10.1037/ocp0000056
- Bakker, A., & de Vries, J. (2021). Job demands-resources theory and self-regulation:

 New explanations and remedies for job burnout. *Anxiety, Stress, & Coping*, 34(1),

 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1080/10615806.2020.1799695
- Bakker, A., & van Wingerden, J. (2021). Do personal resources and strengths use increase work engagement? The effects of a training intervention. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 26(1), 20–30.

https://doi.org/10.1037/ocp0000266

- Bao, P., Xiao, Z., Bao, G., & Noorderhaven, N. (2021). Inclusive leadership and employee work engagement: A moderated mediation model. *Baltic Journal of Management*, 17(1), 124–139. https://doi.org/10.1108/BMJ-06-2021-0219
- Bergstedt, K., & Wei, H. (2020). Leadership strategies to promote frontline nursing staff engagement. *Nursing Management*, *51*(2), 48–53. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.NUMA.0000651204.39553.79
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Walter, F., Cavers, D., & Campbell, C. (2016). Member checking: A tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13), 1802–1811. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316654870
- Bleiker, J., Morgan-Trimmer, S., Knapp, K., & Hopkins, S. (2019). Navigating the maze:

 Qualitative research methodologies and their philosophical foundations.

 Radiography, 25(1), S4–S8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.radi.2019.06.008
- Blok, A., Anderson, E., Swamy, L., & Mohr, D. (2021). Comparing nurse leader and manager perceptions of and strategies for nurse engagement using a positive deviance approach: A qualitative analysis. *J Nurs Manage*, *I*(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.13301
- Boakye, K., Apenteng, B., Hanna, M., Kimsey, L., Mase, W., Opoku, S., Owens, C., & Peden, A. (2021). The impact of interpersonal support, supervisory support, and employee engagement on employee turnover intentions: Differences between financially distressed and highly financially hospitals. *Healthcare Management Review*, 46(2), 135–144. https://doi.org/10.1097/HMR.00000000000000000151

- Boyd, N. & Nowell, B. (2020). Sense of community, sense of community responsibility, organizational commitment and identification, and public service motivation: A simultaneous test of affective states on employee well-being and engagement in a public service work context. *Public Management Review*, 22(7), 1024-1050. https://doi.org/10.1080/14719037.2020.1740301
- Breaugh, J. (2021). Too stressed to be engaged? The role of basic needs satisfaction in understanding work stress and public sector engagement. *Public Personnel Management*, 50(1), 84-108. https://doi.org/10.1177/0091026020912516
- Breevaart, K. & Bakker, A. (2018). Daily job demands and employee work engagement:

 The role of daily transformational leadership behavior. *Journal of occupational Health Psychology*, 23(3), 338-349. https://doi.org/10.1037/ocp0000082
- Bunjak, A., Černe, M., Nagy, N., & Bruch, H. (2023). Job demands and burnout: The multilevel boundary conditions of collective trust and competitive pressure.
 Human Relations, 76(5), 657-688. https://doi.org/10.1177/00187267211059826
- Busse, R. & Regenberg, S. (2019). Revisiting the "authoritarian versus participative" leadership style legacy: A new model on the impact of leadership inclusiveness on employee engagement. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 26(4), 510-525. https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051818810135
- Calvo, J., Kwatra, J., Yansane, A., Tokede, O., Gorter, R., & Kalenderian, E. (2021).

 Burnout and Work Engagement Among US Dentists. *Journal of Patient Safety*,

 17(5), 398-404. https://doi.org/10.1097/PTS.0000000000000355
- Canevello, A. & Crocker, J. (2010). Creating good relationships: Responsiveness,

- relationship quality, and interpersonal goals. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 99(1), 78-196. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018186
- Cattermole, G. (2018). Creating an employee engagement strategy for millennials.

 Strategic HR Review, 17(6), 290-294. https://doi.org/10.1108/SHR-07-2018-0059
- Chan, C., Wong, J., Wee, L., Jamil, N., Yeap, L., Nantha, Y., & Siau, C. (2020).

 Psychological and work-related factors predicting work engagement in Malaysian employees. *Occupational Medicine*, 70(6), 400-406.

 https://doi.org/10.1093/occmed/kqaa107
- Chang, K-P., & Graham, G. (2013). E-business strategy in supply chain collaboration: An empirical study of B2B e-commerce projects in Taiwan. *International Journal of Electronic Business Management*, 10(2), 101-112.
- Chenail, R. J. (2011). Interviewing the investigator: Strategies for addressing instrumentation and researcher bias concerns in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 16(1), 255-262. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2011.1051
- Chaudhary, R. (2019). Corporate social responsibility perceptions and employee engagement: Role of psychological meaningfulness, safety, and availability.

 *Corporate Governance, 19(4), 631-647. https://doi.org/10.1108/CG-06-2018-0207
- Choi, S., Tran, T., & Kang, S. (2016). Inclusive leadership and employee well-being: The mediating role of person-job fit. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 18(6), 1877-1901. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-016-9801-6

- Cook, K. E. (2013). Reliability assessments in qualitative health promotion research.

 Health Promotion International, 27, 90-101.

 https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/dar027
- Cunningham, L. (2019). A tool kit for improving communication in your healthcare organization. *Frontiers of Health Services Management*, *36*(1), 3-13. https://doi.org/10.1097/HAP.000000000000066
- Decuypere, A. & Schaufeli, W. (2021). Exploring the leadership-engagement nexus: A moderated meta-analysis and review of explaining mechanisms. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(16), 1-33. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18168592
- De-la-Calle-Duran, M. & Rodriguez-Sanchez, J. (2021). Employee engagement and well-being in times of COVID-19: A proposal of the 5Cs model. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(10), 1-15.

 https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18105470
- Desrumaux, P., Pohl, S., Dose, E.,& Chaumon, M. (2022). When leader-member exchanges make workers happy and innovative: Do efforts and rewards act as mediators? *Journal of Technology Management & Innovation*, 17(1), 27-37.
- Dich, N., Lund, R., Hansen, A., & Rod, N. (2019). Mental and physical health effects of meaningful work and rewarding family responsibilities. *PLOS One*, *14*(4), 1-11,

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0214916

- Dinh, L. (2020). Determinants of employee engagement mediated by work-life balance and work stress. *Management Science Letters*, 10(4), 923-928. https://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.209.10.003
- Druge, M., Schladitz, S., Wirtz, M., & Schleider, K. (2021). Psychosocial burden and strains of pedagogues—Using the job demands-resources theory to predict burnout, job satisfaction, general state of health, and life satisfaction.

 International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 18(7921), 1-13. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18157921
- Eldor, L. (2018). Public service sector: The compassionate workplace—The effect of compassion and stress on employee engagement, burnout, and performance.

 Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory, 28(1), 86-103.

 https://doi.org/10.1093/jopart/mux028
- Eldor, L., Friedman, S., & Westring, A. (2020). The indirect effect of holistic career values on work engagement: A longitudinal study spanning two decades. *Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being, 12*(1), 144-165.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/aphw.12177
- Engelbrecht, A., Heine, G., & Mahembe, B. (2017) Integrity, ethical leadership, trust and work engagement. *Journal of Leadership & Organization Development, 3, 368-379*. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-11-2015-0237
- Epitropaki, O. & Martin, R. (2005). From ideal to real: A longitudinal study of the role of implicit leadership theories on leader-member exchanges and employee

- outcomes. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 90(4), 659-679. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.90.4.659
- Frear, K. A., Donsbach, J., Theilgard, N., & Shanock, L. R. (2017). Supported supervisors are more supportive, but why? A multilevel study of mechanisms and outcomes. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 32(1), 1-15.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-016-9485-2
- Fredrickson, B. (2001). The role of positive emotions in positive psychology: The broaden-and-build theory of positive emotions. *The American Psychologist*, 56(3), 218-226. https://doi.org/10.1037//0003-066x.56.3.218
- Fu, Q., Cherian, J., Ahmad, N., Scholz, M., Samad, S., & Comite, U. (2022). An inclusive leadership framework to foster employee creativity in healthcare sector:
 The role of psychological safety and polychronicity. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(8), 1-13.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19084519
- Fulmore, J., Fulmore, A., Mull, M., & Cooper, J. (2023). Reducing employee turnover intentions in the service sector: The connection between human resource development practices and employee engagement. *Human Resource Development Quarterly*, 34(2), 117-250. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrdq.21471
- Fusch, P. & Ness, L. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(9), 1408-1416. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2015.2281
- Gadolin, C. & Andersson, T. (2017). Healthcare quality improvement work: A

- professional employee perspective. *International Journal of Health Care Quality Assurance*, 30(5), 410-423. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJHCQA-02-2016-0013
- Garland, E., Fredrickson, B., Kring, A., Johnson, D., Meyer, P., & Penn, D. (2010).

 Upward spirals of positive emotions counter downward spirals of negativity:

 Insights from the broaden-and-build theory and affective neuroscience on the treatment of emotion dysfunctions and deficits in psychopathology. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 30(7), 849-864. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2010.03002
- Gibbert, M., & Ruigrok, W. (2013). The what and how of case study rigor: Three strategies based on published works. *Organizational Research Methods*, *13*, 710-737. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428109351319
- Gill, M. (2014). The possibilities of phenomenology for organizational research.

 *Organizational Research Methods, 17, 118-137.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428113518348
- Glaser, J., & Laudel, G. (2013). Life with and without coding: Two methods for early-stage data analysis in qualitative research aiming at causal explanations. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung/Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 14(3), 1-37. https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-14.2.1886
- Glesne, C. (Eds.) (2011). *Becoming qualitative researchers: An introduction*. (4th ed). Pearson Education.
- Gode, H., Johansen, W., Thomsen, C. (2020). Employee engagement in generating ideas on internal social media: A matter of meaningfulness, safety and availability.

 *Corporate Communications: An International Journal, 25(2), 263-280.

https://doi.org/10.1108/CCIJ-03-2019-0024

- Gordon, H., Demerouti, E., Le Blanc, P., Bakker, A., Bipp, T., & Verhagen, M. (2018).

 Individual job redesign: Job crafting interventions in healthcare. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 104(1), 98-114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2017.07.002
- Hameduddin, T. (2021). Employee engagement among public employees: Exploring the role of the (perceived) external environment. *The American Review of Public Administration*, 51(7), 526-541. https://doi.org/10.1177/02750740211010346
- Hicks, R. E., O'Reilly, G., & Bahr, M. (2014). Organizational engagement and its driving forces: A case study in a retail travel organization with international outreach.

 International Journal of Management Cases, 16(3), 4-19.
- Homann, F., Limbert, C., Matthews, S., Castaldi, D., & Sykes, P. (2021). Identifying management practices that drive production-line workers' engagement through qualitative analysis. *Journal of Safety Research*, 77(1), 296-310. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsr.2021.02.006
- Houghton, C., Casey, D., Shaw, D., & Murphy, K. (2013). Rigour in qualitative case study research. *Nurse Researcher*, 20, 12-17. https://doi.org/10.7748/nr2013.03.20.4.12.e326
- Huang, S. & Yu-Ming, F. (2020). A multilevel model of Kahn's job engagement in predicting counterproductive work behaviors: Evidence from financial information technology firms. *Corporate Management Review*, 40(2), 41-71. https://doi.org/10.3966/102873102020064002022
- James, R. (2021). Fit perception and engagement: The mediating role of work

- meaningfulness. Vision, 1(1), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1177/0972262921999866
- Jia, Y., Yan, J., Liu, T., & Huang, J. (2019). How does internal and external CSR affect employees' work engagement? Exploring multiple mediation mechanisms and boundary conditions. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16(14), 1-17. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16142476
- Jiang, H. & Luo, Y. (2018). Crafting employee trust: From authenticity, transparency to engagement. *Journal of Communication Management*, 22(2), 138-160. https://doi.org/10.1108/JCOM-07-2016-055
- Jimenez, T. & Orozco, M. (2021). Prompts, not questions: Four techniques for crafting better interview protocols. *Qualitative Sociology*, *44*(13), 507-528. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11133-021-09483-2
- Jolly. P & Lee, L. (2020). Silence is not golden: Motivating employee voice through inclusive leadership. *Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Research*, 45(6), 1092-1113. https://doi.org/10.1177/1096348020963699
- Jonsdottit, I. & Kristinsson, K. (2020). Supervisors' active-empathetic listening as an important antecedent of work engagement. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(21), 1-11.

 https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17217976
- Jose, G., M, N., & Mampilly, S. (2021). It is not a case of "one size fits all": The need to for customized HRM practices for employee engagement. *Development and Learning in Organizations: An International Journal*, 36(6), 14-17.
 https://doi.org/10.1108/DLO-01-2021-0021

- Kaba, K. & Geldenhuys, M. (2018). Positive interaction between work and home, and psychological availability on women's work engagement: A 'shortitudinal' study.

 Journal of Industrial Psychology, 44(0), 1-11.

 https://doi.org/10.4102/sajip.v44i0.1538
- Kahn, W. (1990). Psychological conditions of personal engagement and disengagement at work. *Academy of Management Journal*, *33*(4), 692-724. https://doi.org/10.2307/256287
- Kalidass, A., & Bahron, A. (2015). The Relationship between perceived supervisor support, perceived organizational support, organizational commitment and employee turnover intention. *International Journal of Business Administration*, 6(5), 82-89. https://doi.org/10.5430/ijba.v6n5p82
- Kaltiainen, J., Lipponen, J., Fugate, M., & Vakola, M. (2020). Spiraling work engagement and change appraisals: A three-wave longitudinal study during organizational change. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 25(4), 244-258. https://doi.org/10.1037/ocp0000163
- Kanungo, R. N. (1982). Measurement of job and work involvement. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 67, 341–349. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.67.3.341
- Katsaros, K. (2022). Exploring the inclusive leadership and employee change participation relations: The role of workplace belongingness and meaning-making. *Baltic Journal of Management*, *17*(2), 158-173.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/BJM-03-2021-0104
- Khalid, K., & Nawab, S. (2018). Employee participation and employee retention in view

- of compensation. *SAGE Open*, 8(4), 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244018810067
- Kim, B., Kim, M., Kim, T. (2021). "The power of ethical leadership": The influence of corporate social responsibility on creativity, the mediating function of psychological safety, and the moderating role of ethical leadership. *International Journal of Environment Research and Public Health*, 18(2968), 1-17.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18062968
- Kim, J., Lee, S., & Byun, G. (2020). Building a thriving organization: The antecedents of job engagement and their impact on voice behavior. *Sustainable Business and Development*, 12(18), 1-17. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12187536
- Kolsch, L. (2013). Reconceptualizing the member interview. *International Journal of Qualitative Research*, 12, 168-179. https://doi.org/10.1108/978-1-78560-651-920152019
- Korkmaz, A., van Engen, M., Knappert, L., & Schalk, R. (2022). About and beyond leading uniqueness and belonginess: A systematic review of inclusive leadership research. *Human Resource Management Review*, 32(1), 1-20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2022.100894
- Kowalewski, T. & Ruschoff, B. (2019). Engagement and exhaustion in healthcare: A network approach. *Career Development International*, 24(4), 383-394. https://doi.org/10.1108/CDI-01-2019-0021
- Kucuk, B. (2020). Work flow experience in the light of leader-member exchange and person-job fit theories. *Psychological Reports*, *125*(1), 464-497.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0033294120981927

- Kulikowski, K. & Orzechowski, J. (2018). All employees need job resources-testing the job demands-resource theory among employees with either high or low working memory and fluid intelligence. *Medycyna Pracy*, 69(5), 483-496.

 https://doi.org/10.13075/mp.5893.00709
- Kumar, P. (2021). V-5 model of employee engagement during COVID-19 and post lockdown. *Vision*, *25*(3), 271-274. https://doi.org/10.1177/0972262920980878
- Kumar, A. & Kapoor, S. (2019). Engaged and happy workplace: A learning and development approach. *Amity Global Business Review*, 9(1), 45-48.
- Kwon, K. & Park, J. (2019). The life cycle of employee engagement theory in HRD research. *Advances in Developing Human Resources*, 21(3), 352-370. https://doi.org/10.1177/1523422319851443
- Laba, K. & Geldenhuys, M. (2016). Psychological availability and work engagement:

 The moderating role of sex and race. *Journal of Psychology in Africa*, 26(2), 107112. https://doi.org/10.1080/14330237.2016.1163888
- Lakshmi, S., & Mohideen, A. (2013). Issue in reliability and validity of research.

 International Journal of Management Research and Review, 3, 2752-2756.
- Lavigna, B, & Basso, P. (2020). Employee engagement: Why it matters (Part 1). *Policy & Practice*, 78(3), 16-19.
- Leedy, P., D., & Ormrod, J. E. (2013). *Practical research: Planning and design* (10th ed.). Pearson.
- Lei, C., Hossain, S., Mostafiz, I., Khalifa, G. (2021). Factors determining employee

- career success in the Chinese hotel industry: A perspective of job demands resource theory. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management*, 48(1), 301-311. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.1016/j.jhtm.2021.07.001
- Li, C., Wu, C., Brown, M., & Dong, Y. (2022). How a grateful leader trait can cultivate creative employees: A dual-level leadership process model. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 17(3), 389-399.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2021.1871941
- Liang, X. & Fan, J. (2020). Self-sacrificial leadership and employee creativity: The mediating role of psychological safety. *Social Behavior and Personality an International Journal*, 48(12), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.9496
- Liang, Y., Liu, Y., Park, Y., & Wang, L. (2022). Treat me better, but is it really better?

 Applying a resource perspective to understanding leader–member exchange

 (LMX), LMX differentiation, and work stress. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 27(2), 223–239. https://doi.org/10.1037/ocp0000303
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. SAGE.
- Long, T., & Johnson, M. (2000). Rigour, reliability and validity in qualitative research.

 *Clinical Effectiveness in Nursing, 4(1), 30-37.

 https://doi.org/10.1054/cein.2000.0106
- Lumpkin, G., Bacq, S., & Pidduck, R. (2018). Where change happens: Community-level phenomena in social entrepreneurship research. *Journal of Small Business*Management, 56(1), 24-50. https://doi.org/10.1111/jsbm.12379
- Ma, Y., Faraz, N., Ahmed, F., Iqbal, M., Saeed, U., Mughal, M., & Raza, A. (2021).

- Curbing nurses' burnout during COVID-19: The roles of servant leadership and psychological safety. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 29(8), 2382-2391. https://doi.org/10.111/jonm.13414
- Mani, S. & Mishra, M. (2020). Employee engagement constructs: "CARE" model of engagement-need to look beyond the obvious. *Leadershi & Organizational Development Journal*, 42(3), 453-466. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-08-2020-0358
- Maus, A. (2020). Employee engagement and leader-member exchange at a for-profit university. *International Journal of Educational Organization & Leadership*, 28(1), 68-87. https://doi.org/10.18848/2329-1656/CGP/v28i01/63-87
- Macey, W., & Schneider, B. (2008). The meaning of employee engagement. *Industrial* and Organizational Psychology, 1(1), 3-30. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1754-9434.2007.002.x
- Marshall, B., Cardon, P., Poddar, A., & Fontenot, R. (2013). Does sample size matter in qualitative research? A review of qualitative interviews in IS research. *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, *54*, 11-22. https://doi.org/10.1080/08874417.2013.11645667
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. (2011). *Designing qualitative research* (5th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Matthews, G. (2018). Employee engagement: What's your strategy? *Strategic HR Review*, 17(3), 150-154. https://doi.org/10.1108/SHR-03-2018-0025
- May, D., Gilson, R., & Harter, L. (2004). The psychological conditions of

- meaningfulness, safety, and availability and the engagement of the human spirit at work. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 77(1), 11-37. https://doi.org/10.1348/096317904322915892
- McInerney, S. & Niewiarowski, P. (2022). Biomimicry training to promote employee engagement in sustainability. *Biomimetics*, 7(71), 1. https://doi.org/10.3390/biomimetics7020071
- Minh, T., Hong, P., & Anh, L. (2022). Do corporate social responsibilities support its financial performance? Evidence of the listed firms in Vietnam. *Journal Ekonomi* & *Studi Pembangunan*, 23(1), 1-20. https://doi.org/10.18196/jesp.v23i1.14187
- Mitonga-Monga, J. & Mayer, C. (2020). Sense of coherence, burnout, and work engagement: The moderating effect of coping in the Democratic Republic of Congo. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(4127), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17114127
- Mohammed Ali Ababneh, O. (2020). The impact of organizational culture archetypes on quality performance and total quality management: The role of employee engagement and individual values. *International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management*, 38(6), 1387-1408. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJQRM-05-2020-0178
- Mohanty, S. (2018). Individualized employee engagement or collaborative employee relations: Insights on leadership strategies to manage employees in the UK market. *Problems and Perspective in Management*, 16(3), 366-376. https://doi.org/10.21511/ppm.16(3).2018.29
- Muddle, G. (2020). The relationship between leadership style and hospital employee

- engagement in Papa New Guinea. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Health Management*, 15(4), 42-55. https://doi.org/10.24083/apjhm.v15i4.441
- Mussagulova, A. (2020). Predictors of work engagement: Drawing on job demands—resources theory and public service motivation. *Australian Journal of Public Administration*, 80(2), 217-238. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8500.12449
- Mwita, K. (2022). Factors influencing data saturation in qualitative studies. *International Journal of Research in Business and Social Science*, 11(4), 414-420. https://doi.org/10.20525/ijrbs.v11i4.1776
- Nekula, P. & Koob, C. (2021). Associations between culture of health and employee engagement in social enterprises: A cross-sectional study. *PloS One*, *16*(1), 1-20. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0245276
- Obuobisa-Darko, T. & Domfeh, K. (2019). Leader behaviour to achieve employee engagement in Ghana: A qualitative study. *International Journal of Public Leadership*, 15(1), 19-37. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPL-04-2018-0018
- Oh, J., Cho, D., & Hun Lim, D. (2018). Authentic leadership and work engagement: The mediating effect of practicing core values. *Leadership & Organization*Development Journal, 39(2), 276-290. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-02-2016-0030
- Olubunmi, P. (2014). Data collection and new technology. *International Journal of Emerging Technologies*, 8(1), 48-52. https://doi.org/10.1108/978-1-78560-651-920152014
- O'Reilly, M., & Parker, N. (2013). Unsatisfactory saturation: A critical exploration of the

- notion of saturated sample sizes in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, *13*, 190-197. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794112446106
- Pace, F. & Sciotto, G. (2020). The effect of emotional dissonance and mental health load and need for recovery and work engagement among Italian fixed-term researchers. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health,* 18(99), 1-18. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18010099
- Panteli, N., Yalabik, Z., & Rapti, A. (2019). Fostering work engagement in geographically-dispersed and asynchronous virtual teams. *Information*Technology & People, 32(1), 2-17. https://doi.org/10.1108/ITP-04-2017-0133
- Paul, J., & Criado, A. R. (2020). The art of writing literature review: What do we know and what do we need to know? *International Business Review*, 29(4), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibusrev.2020.101717
- Pellegrini, E., Scandura, T. & Jayaraman, V. (2010). Cross-cultural generalizability of paternalistic leadership: An expansion of leader-member exchange theory. *Group & Organization Management*, 35(4). 391-420.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1059601110378456
- Piszczek, M. M., & Pimputkar, A. S. (2021). Flexible schedules across working lives:

 Age-specific effects on well-being and work. *Journal of Applied Psychology*,

 106(12), 1907–1920. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000844
- Prottas, D. & Nummelin, M. (2018). Behavioral integrity, engagement, organizational citizenship behavior, and service quality in a healthcare setting. *Journal of Healthcare Management*, 63(6), 410-424. https://doi.org/10.1097/JHM-D-17-

- Porter, M. & Wang, J. (2022). Personal resources and work engagement: A literature review. *Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing*, *53*(3), 115-121. https://doi.org/10.3928/00220124-20220210-06
- Rapp, A. (2021). In search for design elements: A new perspective for employing ethnography in human-computer interaction design research. *International Journal of Human-Computer Interaction*, 37(8), 783-802. https://doi.org/10.1080/10447318.2020.1843296
- Roberts, J. & David, M. (2017). Put down your phone and listen to me: How boss phubbing undermines the psychological conditions necessary for employee engagement. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 75(1), 206-207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2017.05.021
- Rohatinsky, N., Cave, J., & Krauter, C. (2020). Establishing a mentorship program in rural workplaces: Connection, communication, and support required. *Rural and Remote Health*, 20(1), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.22605/RRH5640
- Rollins, A., Eliacin, J., Russ-Jara, A., Monroe-Devita, M., Wasmuth, S., Flanagan, M., Morse, G., Leiter, M., & Salyers, M. (2021). Organizational conditions that influence work engagement and burnout: A qualitative study of mental health workers. *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal*, 1(1), 1-10.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/prj0000472
- Romney, A. (2021). It's not just what you say, it's how you say it: How callings influence constructive voice delivery. *Human Relations*, 74(12), 2021-2050.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726720945775

- Ross, P. & Bibler Zaidi, N. (2019). Limited by our limitations. *Perspectives on Medical Education*, 8(4), 261-264. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-019-00530-x
- Rothmann, S. & Baumann, C. (2014). Employee engagement: The effects of work-home-work interaction and psychological conditions. *South African Journal of Economic & Management Sciences*, *17*(4), 515-530.

 https://doi.org/10.4102/sajems.v17i4.419
- Rozman, M. & Milfelner, B. (2022). The importance of intergenerational leadership praxes and availability of key information for older employee burnout and engagement in the context of firm size. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *13*(1), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.858134
- Rutishauser, L. & Sender, A. (2019). Effect of team-member exchange on turnover intention: A cross-cultural perspective on a selected aspect of employee engagement. *International Studies of Management & Organization*, 49(1), 43-62. https://doi.org/10.1080/00208825.2019.1565093
- Saarijarvi, M. & Lena-Bratt, E. (2021). When face-to-face interviews are not possible:

 Tips and tricks for video, telephone, online chate, and email interviews in

 qualitative research, *European Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*, 20(4), 393396. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurjcn/zvab038
- Saito, Y., Igarashi, A., Noguchi-Watanabe, M., Takai, Y., & Yamamoto-Mitani, N. (2018). Work values and their association with burnout/work engagement among nurses in long-term care hospitals. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 26(4), 393-

- 402. https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.12550
- Saks, A. (2017). Translating employee engagement research into practice. *Dynamics*, 46(1), 76-86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.orgdyn.2017.04.003
- Salajeghe, S., Nejad, A. S., & Soleimani, S. (2014). Analysis of the role of quality management in creating knowledge management value chain. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, 4(1), 31-46. https://doi.org/10.6007/IJARBSS/v4-i1/511
- Saleh, F. (2017). Transactional leadership effects, organizational culture, commitment and job satisfaction on compensation and employee performance in the area of agricultural quarantine, South Sulawesi. *SSRN Electronic Journal*, *17*(1), 1-25. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2919740
- Salvador, J. (2016). Exploring quantitative and qualitative methodologies: A guide to novice nursing researchers. *European Scientific Journal*, 12(18), 107-122. https://doi.org/10.19044/esj.2016.v12n18p107
- Samios, C., Abel, L., & Rodzik, A. (2013). The protective role of compassion satisfaction for therapists who work with sexual violence survivors: An application of the broaden-and-build theory of positive emotions. *Anxiety, Stress, & Coping, 26*(6), 610-623. https://doi.org/10.1080/10615806.2013.784278
- Samnani, Al-K., Salamon, D. S., & Singh, P. (2014). Negative affect and counterproductive workplace behavior: The moderating role moral disengagement and gender. *Business Ethics*, 119(1), 235-244. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-013-1635-0

- Sarwar, H., Ishaq, M., Amin, A., & Ahmed, R. (2020). Ethical leadership, work engagement, employees' well-being, and performance: A cross-cultural comparison. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 28(12), 2008-2026. https://doi.org/10.1080/09669582.2020.1788039
- Saxena, A. (2020). Challenges and success strategies for dyad leadership model in healthcare. *Healthcare Management Forum*, *34*(3), 137-148. https://doi.org/10.1177/0840470420961522
- Schlechter, A., Hung, A., & Bussin, M. (2014). Understanding talent attraction: The influence of financial rewards elements on perceived job attractiveness. *Journal of Human Resource Management*, 12(1), 1-13.

 https://doi.org/10.4102/sajhrm.v12i1.647
- Schoonenboom, J. & Johnson, R.B. (2017). How to construct a mixed methods research design. *Kolner Zeitschrift fur Soziologie & Sozialpsychologie*, 69(2), 107-131. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11577-0170454-1
- Schroeder, S. & Modaff, D. (2018). Exploring employee engagement through communication. *Qualitative Research Reports in Communication*, 19(1), 35-42. https://doi.org/10.1080/17459435.2018.1468807
- Shaw, D. & Satalkar, P. (2018). Researchers' interpretations of research integrity: A qualitative study. *Accountability in Research*, 25(2), 79-93. https://doi.org/10.1080/08989621.2017.1413940
- Shuck, B., Alagaraja, M., Rose, K., Owen, J., Osam, K., & Berman, M. (2017). The health-related upside of employee engagement: Exploratory evidence and

- implications for theory and practice. *Performance Improvement Quarterly*, 30(3), 165-178. https://doi.org/10.1002/piq.21246
- Stadnick, N., Poth, C., Guetterman, T., & Gallo, J. (2021). Advancing discussion of ethics in mixed methods health services research. *BMC Health Services Research*, 21(1), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-021-06583-1
- Stanczyk, A. B., Henly, J. R., & Lambert, S. J. (2017). Enough time for housework? Low wage work and desired housework time adjustments. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 79(1), 243-260. https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12344
- Stake, R. E. (2010). Qualitative research: Studying how things work. The Guilford Press.
- Stam, H. J. (2020). On the importance of theory and contagion. *Theory & Psychology*, 30(6), 878–884. https://doi.org/10.1177/0959354320970642
- Stander, M. & Rorthmann, S. (2010). Psychological empowerment, job insecurity, and employee engagement. *South African Journal of Industrial Psychology*, *36*(1), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.4102/sajip.v36i1.849
- Steiner, A., & Atterton, J. (2014). The contribution of rural businesses to community resilience. *Local Economy*, 29(1), 228-244.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0269094214528853
- Steinheider, B., Hoffmeister, V., Brunk, K., Garrett, T., & Munoz, R. (2019). Dare to care: Exploring the relationships between socio-moral climate, perceived stress, and work engagement in a social service agency. *Journal of Social Service Research*, 46(3), 394-405. https://doi.org/10.1080/01488376.2019.1575324
- Sun, B., Fu, L., Yan., Wang, Y., & Fan, L. (2022). Quality of work life and work

- engagement among nurses with standardized training: The mediating role of burnout and career identity. *Nurse Education in Practice*, *58*(103276), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2021.103276
- Sun, R., & Wang, W. (2016). Transformational leadership, employee turnover intention, and actual voluntary turnover in public organizations. *Public Management**Review, 18(1), 1-18. https://doi.org/10.1080/14719037.2016.1257063
- Suomi, K., Saraniemi, S., Vahatlo, M., Kallio, T., & Tevameri, T. (2021). Employee engagement and internal branding: Two sides of the same coin? *Corporate Reputation Review*, 24(1), 48-63. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41299-019-00090-0
- Taubman, O., Ari, B., Eherenfreund-Hager, A., & Findler, L. (2011). Mortality salience and positive affect influence adolescents' attitudes toward peers with physical disabilities: Terror management and broaden and build theories. *Death Studies*, 35(1), 1-21. https://doi.org/10.1080/07481187.2010.501012
- Theofanidis, D. & Fountouki, A. (2018). Limitations and delimitations in the research process. *Perioperative Nursing*, 7(3), 155-163. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.2552022
- Thomas, S. (2012). Narrative inquiry: Embracing the possibilities. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 12, 206-221. https://doi.org/10.1108/14439881211248356
- Tong, J., Bickmeier, R., & Rogelberg, S. (2020). A comparison of frequency- and agreement-based response formats in the measurement of burnout and engagement. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(543), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17020543

- Tummers, L. & Bakker, A., (2021). Leadership and job demands-resources theory: A systematic review. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *12*(1), 1-13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.722080
- Ugoami, J. (2016). Employee turnover and productivity among small business entities in Nigeria. *Independent Journal of Management and Production*, 7(1), 1063-1082. https://doi.org/10.14807/ijmp.v7i4.466
- Van der Ross, M., Olckers, C., & Schaap, P. (2022). Engagement of academic staff amidst COVID-19: The role of perceived organizational support, burnout risk, and lack of reciprocity as psychological conditions. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 13(874599), 1-17. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.874599
- Vidyarthi, P., Erdogan, B., Anand, S., Liden, R., & Chaudhry, A. (2014). One member, two leaders: Extending leader-member exchange theory to a dual leadership context. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 99(3), 468-483. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0035466
- Wahyuni, D. (2013). The research design maze: Understanding paradigms, cases, methods, and methodologies. *Journal of Applies Management Accounting Research*, 10(1), 69-80.
- Wa-Mbaleka, S. (2020). The researcher as an instrument. *Computer Supported Qualitative Research*, 1068, 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-31787-4_3
- Wang, C., Xu, J., Zhang, T. C., & Li, Q. M. (2020). Effects of professional identity on turnover intention in China's hotel employees: The mediating role of employee engagement and job satisfaction. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism*

- Management, 45, 10–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhtm.2020.07.002
- Weigelt, O., Gierer, P., & Syrek, C. (2019). My mind is working overtime—Towards an integrative perspective on psychological detachment, work-related rumination, and work reflection. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16(16), 1-27. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16162987
- Wilson, J. & Cunliffe, A. (2021). The development and disruption of relationships between leaders and organizational members and the importance of trust.

 Leadership, 18(3), 359-382. https://doi.org/10.1177/17427150211056738
- Wolgemuth, J., Hicks, T., & Agosto, V. (2017). Unpacking assumptions in research synthesis: A critical construct synthesis approach. *Educational Researcher*, 46(3), 131-139. https://doi.org/10.1302/0013189X17703946
- Wollard, K.K., and B. Shuck. 2011. Antecedents to employee engagement: A structured review of the literature. *Advances in Developing Human Resources*, 13(4), 429–446. https://doi.org/10.1177/1523422311431220
- World Health Organization (2019). Burnout an occupational phenomenon: International classification of diseases. World Health Organization.
- Xu, J., Xie, B., & Chung, B. (2019). Bridging the gap between affective well-being and organizational citizenship behavior: The role of work engagement and collectivist orientation. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16(22), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16224503
- Yang, K., Zhou, L., Wang, Z., Lin, C., & Luo, Z. (2019). Humble leadership and innovative behavior among Chinese nurses: The mediating role of work

- engagement. *J Nurs Manag*, 27(1), 1801-1808. https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.12879
- Yazan, B. (2015). Three approaches to case study methods in education: Yin, Merriam, and Stake. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(2), 134-152. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2015.2102
- Yin, R. K. (2014). Qualitative research from start to finish. Guilford Press.
- Yin, R. K. (2018). Case study research and applications: Designs and methods (6th ed).

 Sage.
- Zhang, S., Liu, Y., Li., G., Zhnag, Z., & Fa, T. (2022). Chinese nurses' innovation capacity: The influence of inclusive leadership, empowering leadership and psychological empowerment. *Journal of Nursing Management*, *1*(1), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.13654
- Znidarsic, J. & Bernik, M. (2021). Impact of work-family balance results on employee work engagement within the organization: The case of Slovenia. *PLOS One*, *16*(1), 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0245078
- Zuberbühler, M., Calcagni, C., Martínez, I., & Salanova, M. (2023). Development and validation of coaching-based leadership scale and its relationship with psychological capital, work engagement, and performance. *Current Psychology*, 42(1), 648-669. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-021-01460-w
- Zyphur, M. & Pierides, D. (2020). Making quantitative research work: From positivist dogma to actual social scientific inquiry. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 167(1), 49-62. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-019-04189-6

Appendix : Interview Protocol

What I(researcher will do)	What I (researcher) will say script
I will ask the participant what is one of their places to eat that they will feel comfortable conducting the interview.	Hello "participant A", thank you for taking the time to participate in this study, where is your favorite place to eat you would feel comfortable meeting me to do the interview? The day of the interview: Today we will be discussing a few behavioral leadership strategies that you use to promote employee engagement. I have just a few questions, please relax, and know there is no right or wrong response. This is a conversation between professional. Please let me know if there is anything, I can do to make you more comfortable.
 I will watch for non-verbal queues I will paraphrase as needed I will ask follow-up probing questions to more in depth 	What behavioral leadership strategies do you use to promote an environment conducive to employee engagement?
	How do you know that your employees are engaged from those behavioral leadership strategies?
	What tools have you utilized to understand what type of behavioral leadership strategies fit your style? What have you done that has been the most effective in addressing challenges in promoting an environment conducive to employee engagement?
	What else would you like to share about establishing an environment conducive to employee engagement?
Wrap up the interview thanking participant	Thank you again for participating in the study. I appreciate your time and effort.
Schedule follow-up member checking interview	There will be a follow up for you to review our discussion and make certain the transcript of our discussion has been annotated and transcribed correctly. I will reach out to you to schedule a goodtime to complete this process.